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My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death
in 1974.
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Dudley in Trafalgar Square in 1954 (when I was 11).
Introduction:

At last I get into family history which is also part of my own history. I hope I can make an interesting account of my grandfather, Dudley, who had a long
life, outliving all his brothers and sisters except Poppy, the youngest. However it is impossible for me to write about Dudley without also writing about the
family of John Glasson, (born 16th May 1847) and Anne Margaret Wilson. My grandmother, Lucy Kathleen Glasson, was the eldest daughter of their
family of nine children, nearly all of whom I met and some of whom I visited at their homes.

Our John Glasson was the nephew of John Glasson whose letters I have put online. John, Kathleen’s father, was the fifth of eight children of William, one of
the brothers of pioneer John Glasson who arrived in NSW in 1830. William and Susan Glasson (nee Susan Russell), arrived in 1852 because farming in Cornwall has
become uneconomic. William followed his brothers John, Joseph and Richard Glasson to a new life in Blayney. Later, Henry Glasson joined them, as well as sisters
Mary, Elizabeth and Susan.
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You can read all the background to the Cornish Glassons and their letters in the previous post.

Coincidentally, Dudley’s grandfather, also called William, had decided the same year to give up farming in Lancashire and emigrate to Australia, arriving in
Melbourne in January 1853. Another coincidence is that George Charles and John Glasson we each 5 years old when they left England, taking with them many
memories of the ‘Old Country’.

Another difficulty with family history is the tradition of calling the eldest son ‘John’. Dudley’s eldest brother was John, Kathleen’s eldest brother (who died as a
baby) was John and my father, the eldest, was called John too. You can see in the Glasson letters how difficult it is to distinguish the generations when they have all
been called John!

Writing about Dudley whom I knew so well makes me understand the continuity of culture and language which is unconscious in everything we say and do. Dudley
was in contact with his English grandfather, William, who was born in 1826, before the Victorian era and died in Glebe in 1899. He also knew his architect
grandfather, George Allen Mansfield (d.1908) and the Mansfield and Allen families of Glebe, strong Methodists and early free settlers from Britain. Now, in 2019,
132 years since Dudley was born, I am passing on my thoughts about the past and unconsciously my British heritage to those who read this blog, perhaps my
grandchildren!

Contents of this blog:

Dudley’s early life

Life in the horse era

Blayney and Lucy Kathleen Glasson

Engagement and marriage

Children and married life

The Great War

Move to Sydney and schooling at Cranbrook and Ascham
Bringelong, Wentworth Falls

Second World War and deaths of Brian and Donald
10. Marriages of John and Nancy

11. Mollie’s law career begins; working in London

12. Grandchildren and Number 7 Vaucluse Road

XA R WD

A boy called Dudley 1887!

I was wondering why on Earth George Charles called his son ‘Dudley’ (and of course he acquired the nickname ‘Dud’ ) and I have found that this name is another
symptom of George Charles’ obsession with English social class! Ilooked up “the Earl of Dudley, 1887” in Wikipedia and this is what I found:

(Lord) Dudley was born in London, the son of William Ward,_Ist Earl of Dudley, and Georgina, daughter of Sir Thomas Moncrieff, 7th Baronet. He was educated
at Eton. His father died in 1885 and he inherited nearly 30,000 acres (120 km? ') of mineral deposits in Staffordshire and Worcestershire, two hundred coal and iron
mines, several iron works (including the Round Oak Steelworks) and a substantial fortune, as well as the Earldom. He visited Australia in 1886-87 as part of a
yachting cruise. Dudley became part of the social circle of the Prince of Wales (later King Edward VII), who attended his wedding to Rachel Gurney in 1891. From
1895 to 1896 he was Mayor of Dudley and became Governor-General of Australia! https:/en.wikipedia.org/wiki/William Ward,_2nd Earl of Dudley

Fourth Governor General of Australia!

Yes, the second Earl of Dudley was visiting Australia when my unsuspecting grandfather was born, so that is how he got his name. The Earl of Dudley’s domain was
not in Lancashire, but it was in the Worcestershire where the Rodds originated. Lord Dudley was also close to the Prince of Wales, heir to the Throne. Lucky
Dudley Westgarth!

Birth, June 1st 1887

T have already documented his birth on June 1st 1887 at Tresco, whilst St Helens was being built. He was the fourth child of Lucy Florence, who would have another
boy, Mervyn, in October the next year. Dudley was the sixth child of George Charles, who was married before. His half brother John (Jack) was 10 and his half
sister, Ella, was 14. His eldest brother, George Mansfield, was 6 and Ronald 5 and Gwendoline 3.

20th June 1887 was the date of Queen Victoria’s Golden Jubilee celebrations. A jubilee is a celebration of 50 years; Victoria had reigned from 1837 to 1887 and

would continue to reign until 1901. As the colonies of New South Wales, Victoria, Queensland, Western Australia , South Australia and Tasmania were part of the
British Empire, many towns struck a commemorative medal. This one is bronze, washed gold, in the shape of a Maltese Cross.
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This was given to Richard Wilkinson as a child about 1944, from the matron at Liverpool Hospital.
Early Life:

Dudley would not have remembered much about Tresco, because in 1891 his father leased the house and the family went to St Helens. That must have been a happy
time for him on the farm and in the beautiful house with his best friend, his little brother, Mervyn. Dudley was 4 and Mervyn 3 that year. There was also the baby,
Violet (known as Poppy), born in England in 1890 when George Charles and Lucy Florence attended the wedding of George Charles’ youngest sibling, Violet.

The year he turned 7, 1894, St Helens was leased and the Westgarths went to live at Kirribilli Point because George Mansfield and Ronald had to go to school. They
went to Shore (North Shore Grammar School). The last baby, Doreen, was born there in 1896.

This is the only photo I have of Dudley as a boy, aged 7, on the right of the photo. George Charles, his father is picnicking with the boys. Ronald is on
his left, and George in front at Fairy Bower, Manly, on the Prince of Wales’ Birthday 1894.

In 1897, when he was turning 10, it was time for Dudley and Mervyn to go to school. The family moved to The Pines, Avoca Street Randwick (now demolished) and
all the boys went to Sydney Grammar School in College Street, the two older boys transferring from Shore.

Horses:

Dudley was born in the era of horse transport. His half-brother, Jack, lived his whole short life (1877-1918) in the era of horses. In the British Army Jack was
trained in Artillery, which were all pulled by horses!
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The Royal Horse Artlllery an actlon shot. World War One.

Jack was a very skilled rider of course.
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Australian Light Horse in snow in France

Mervyn was in the 12th Ligh Horse, as well as Claude Glasson. Here is a picture of three Light Horsemen off duty, drawn by Will Dyson, one of the First World War
artists.
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What we are missing these days!
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Dudley lived to be 87, so more than half his life was spent with motor cars, but he would have well remembered the era of horses. Researching the internet, I found
this wonderful article on the era of horse transport in Melbourne. It must have been the same in New South Wales:

The Era of Horse transport in Victoria. (abridged) http://www.emelbourne.net.au/biogs/EM00723b.htm

The pace, smell and sound of the horse-drawn age have long faded from the memories of Melburnians. From the 1830s horse manure had been the ever-present and
ubiquitous urban smell that, however unpleasant, was generally not regarded as remarkable or pathological until the early 20th century. A special brigade of
Jjuvenile workers, known as orderly or scoop boys, was employed to clear the streets of horse litter, a sometimes risky enterprise as they dodged the city s traffic. The
erection of orderly bins in the 1880s facilitated city cleanliness, and loads of street gleanings sent to the manure depot were often requested by private citizens or
institutions for land-fill or for top-dressing gardens. In 1885 the ‘crossing-sweeper nuisance’ had many streets ‘infested by boys alternately playing pitch & toss and
begging off ladies & gentlemen as they pass up and down the footpath’.

The nuisance of horse feed blowing from loose bags and boxes about the streets and into shops had also become serious enough by the 1910s for a by-law
prohibiting the feeding of horses in the street except from nosebags.

The requirements of the horse-drawn age were stitched into the city s urban fabric, and can still be traced in its built heritage. Mac's Hotel accommodated the gold
escort and had stabling for a hundred horses......Stables were located at Government House (the largest domestic stables complex in Victoria), and Victoria
Barracks on St Kilda Road. The former Victoria Police Depot in Southbank (1912) includes one of the largest stables complexes in metropolitan Melbourne.

Horse numbers are difficult to estimate at a metropolitan level; in the 1880s there were perhaps 20 000 animals stabled in the city. Victoria-wide figures show a
steady rise through the 19th century: 21 000 (1851), 77 000 (1861), 167 000 (1871), 276 000 (1881), 436 000 (1891). Depression and drought in the 1890s reduced
numbers, which peaked again by 1921 at 488 000 before declining rapidly to 318 000 (1941), 186 000 (1951), and 64 000 (1961).

As early as the 1880s the city s horsepower system was running into difficulties due to the economics and logistics of bringing horse feed into the city. In Australians
1888 (published in 1987) Graeme Davison has calculated that a working horse consumed around 14 kg of fodder a day or 5 tonnes annually. With city growth, the
expanding hinterland was increasingly devoted to the cultivation of oats and hay, and fodder prices at the markets reflected rising transport costs. In the late 1870s
the Melbourne Omnibus Co. was already spending more on fodder than on wages.

By the 1920s the days of the horse-drawn age were numbered. Horses were increasingly blamed for traffic congestion and viewed as a menace to the health and
cleanliness of the city. The Metropolitan Fire Brigade had fully motorised by 1919, and many organisations were turning to motor vehicles for their transport needs.
In 1928 the Lord Mayor of Melbourne, opening the annual conference of the Royal Automobile Club (RACYV), announced that the MCC was considering the
diversion of horse-drawn traffic from certain parts of the city at peak hour. In the same year the post and telegraph services stopped using horses. In 1929 there was
only one horse-drawn hearse in Melbourne. From 1930 no horses were allowed to stand in the retail section of the Queen Victoria Market, horse-drawn vehicles
being required to stand in a separate reserved area. By the 1930s stabling accommodation was estimated to require eight times the area of garaging a motor car.

A typical stock horse. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Stock Horse ready for work.jpg

The other side of the horse era: RACING:

Who Went Racing? The simple answer is, everyone. As early racing went hand-in-glove with tavern and hoteliers, it is not surprising that most of the population
was interested in racing in one form or another. There is a unique Australian slang term, wowser, which is defined as a prudish teetotaller. Whilst there were such
objectors to racing and betting in earlier Australia, by the mid-twentieth century this had disappeared. Non-bettors and non-drinkers have always had an interest in
racing in Australia. It is the one of two areas of Australian society that is egalitarian. High Court judges mingle with workaday tipsters on a racecourse. The other
place where egalitarianism is found is at the Australian form of football called Aussie Rules. It is no coincidence that these two fields of sport found popularity on the
goldfields and amongst the working classes. With the popularity today of syndicating the ownership of horses, people with limited funds can still be involved in
trying to lead in the ‘big winner’.

Where Does Racing Take Place? “Wherever a few are gathered...” From the beginning of the development of the land, an annual race meeting could be found in
countless country hamlets, towns and cities. In the early mining camps and in the huge station (ranch) areas, meetings were held. There is no difference today.
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Dudley’s Education:

Dudley went to Sydney Grammar School and told me that at age 13 he was his full height of six feet two inches (186cms). When he ran on the field for the 13 year
old football match, the crowd booed him, thinking he was too old! He was also a handy sprinter, according to Neil Thornton, coming first in the 1901 under fifteen
220 yard (200 m)handicap race, in a time of 27.15 seconds, from a handicap of 8 yards. This was reported in the Australian Town and Country Journal of 10th August
1901. Perhaps his size helped him here again!

VOLO01 380 4916 WESTGARTH DUDLEY 10 G C WESTGARTH BOND ST FEB 1898. Here is the record of Dudley starting at Sydney Grammar the year he
would have turned 11 years old. It is not recorded when he left school, but if it was the year he turned 17, it would have been the end of 1904. He then entered
Sydney Undiversity to study Law and completed his examinations in the first part of 1910. His studies may have been interrupted in October 1908, when his father
died suddenly.

Dudley was at home at St Helens when his father had an obstruction of the larynx and passed away in half an hour. Being the eldest male at home, Dudley had
to sign the death certificate, which you can see in the blog about his father, George Charles. After this, the family had a readjustment, which included his mother
selling St Helens and opening a school for girls in Lane Cove in 1910.

Of course there was a need for Dudley to finish his studies and begin work. He was admitted as a solicitor on Monday, 29th August, 1910, when he was 23 years old
and soon after he achieved a country post at Blayney New South Wales, near Bathurst, west of the Blue Mountains. Westgarth, Dudley (60) 27 Aug., 1910
Blayney, Agent: Weaver and Allworth.

1t seems that George Mansfield and Dudley were the two sons of George Charles who were disposed to have a career in the Law. John abandoned it for a military
career, Ronald went into the merchant trade and Mervyn was interested in pastoral pursuits.

Why go to Scone and Blayney?

I can’t speak for the whole of Australia, but I have been to a lot of country towns in New South Wales. In the main street, there are always imposing buildings with
the dates around 1900, buildings such as general stores, post offices and banks. Country towns were thriving around the time of Federation, because wool, wheat and
minerals were fetching great prices overseas. There were plenty of people in country towns too. Many people had large families and the children grew up and stayed
in the country where many hands made light work. A busy country town had need for bank managers, shopkeepers, doctors and solicitors!

When George Mansfield had been admitted as a solicitor, the obvious country town post for him was Scone where the Robertsons, his wife’s family, lived (see
previous blog).

When Dudley was admitted he obtained a post in Blayney, where there were links to the Allen family. As you know, Lucy Florence, Dudley’s mother, was the
daughter of Lucy Emma Allen.

George Allen, the grandfather of Lucy Florence, who was a very prominent Methodist, had been a friend and adviser of the original John Glasson, a staunch
Methodist. In 1834, John Glasson had helped with farming Allen’s Toxteth Park estate, 96 acres in Glebe. There, he met his wife, Ann Evans, who was the governess
to the Allen children. (See the Letters blog) The Glassons of Blayney even built their own Methodist chapel in the nearby village of Byng, which became known as
the ‘Cornish Settlement’.

Unfortunately for these religious Glassons, Dudley really had no interest in religion.
Life in Blayney:

In talking about Dudley’s new adult independence in Blayney, we must remember that his father had aspired to become a wealthy gentleman and part of Sydney
society. Newspaper reports show that George Charles was very successful in his profession. So Dudley, in his youth, probably was quite an ambitious and arrogant
young man, tall, well built and clever.

Neil Thornton provides the following information about Dudley’s work in Blayney: Dudley joined the practice of George Pile in Blayney and immediately
began networking. He joined the Freemansons and was already assistant secretary of the Blayney Branch of the Freemasons in 1910. Then, in March 1911 he
became secretary of the Blayney Show Society (Bathurst Times, Saturday 11th March 1911). He had really settled into Blayney socially. Then, on 12th July the
same year, 1911, Dudley and George Pile, his business partner, registered a legal partnership, ‘Pile and Westgarth, Solicitors’, a partnership that would last until
1925.

N

Outside Pile and Westgarth in the snow,1921. Perhaps these are new premises. Dudley must be the tall man at the back and George Pile is on his left.
Kathleen is in front of the middle post. She was pregnant with Donald.
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Romance:

In 1910, Lucy Kathleen Glasson was 21 years old, a fun loving and dutiful eldest daughter. Her parents were John and Anne Margaret Glasson, nee Willson, who
married on 9th December1885 at Blayney.

NEW SOUTH WALES REGISTRATION NUMBER
BIRTHS, DEATHS AND MARRIAGES REGISTRATION ACT 1995 4438/1885
MARRIAGE CERTIFICATE
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Before accepting copies, sight unaltered original. The original has a coloured background.

REGISTRY OF BIRTHS I hereby certify that this is a true copy of particulars recorded in a
DEATHS AND MARRIAGES Register in the State of New South Walces, in the Commonwealth of Australia
SYDNEY 08 November 2020 Registrar

John (b.1847), was born in Cornwall, the son of William and Susan Glasson. William could not support a large family of 8 children on a farm in Cornwall, so he
followed his brother, John, to Blayney in 1852. William was the second son of the six sons of John Glasson of Breage, Cornwall. The eldest, John, whose letters are
on this blog, was the pioneer of the family in 1830, taking up a land grant of 640 acres in the Bathurst district.
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Anne Margaret Glasson. Julie has this miniature. Unfortunately the glass is damaged. A kind and sincere face..
Anne Margaret Willson was born in Tenterfield, New South Wales. Her parents, George and Mary, were shopkeepers in Blayney. I imagine the couple met through
the Methodist Church, in which they were married. John Glasson had established himself on the land by 1885 and would have been looking for a wife. He was 38
and she was 21.

Note: My reference for information about the Glassons, is from The Glasson Saga by Mary Glasson, published in 1980.

Lucy Kathleen was the eldest of three girls in the family. There were also six boys, Donald, Claude, Eric, Keith, Richard and Robert, making nine children in the
family, on top of which three more died in infancy. Funnily enough, Dudley was also one of nine children, with two more dying in infancy.

Here they all are. The eldest son was traditionally called John, but it was an unlucky name for this firstborn.
John Cyprian Bridge, b. 27.8.1886 d. 11.1.1887
Donald Havelock b.29.2.1888 d. 12.3.1917

Lucy Kathleen b. 3.8.1889 d.16.7.1966

Claude Russell b. 7.9.1890 d. 30.4.1973

Eric Gordon b. 1.9.1891 d. 8.2.1978

Dorothy Margaret b. 27.12.1892 d. 12.1.1893
Mary Ruth b. 1.7.1894 d. 8.12.1964

Richard b. 25.5.1896 d. 7.7.1967

William Allen b. 8.10.1897 d. 19.4.1898

Robert Malcomb b. 13.2.1901 d. 16.10.1954
Keith John b. 23.5.1903 d. 14.9.1970

Susan Joyce b. 30.3.1905

Anne Glasson had a child practically every year from 1886 to 1897. I hope she had plenty of help with the children, who must have been a happy bunch of kids with
plenty of playmates. Here is an extract from The Glasson Saga:

‘John Glasson prospered on the land. ‘John owned ‘Slap Dash’. a 22,000 acre property 9 miles from Gulgong, ‘Gresham’, between Bathurst and Blayney
and Harwood Estate near Yass. ‘Trevellyan’, beautifully situated overlooking the Belabula River near Blayney, was the family headquarters. The young
people gathered for croquet and tennis. People living today remember the happy days at Trevellyan and John’s kindness.

There is a story which shows his love of children. When quite an elderly man, he took the train to see his property, then took the train home. He rarely
made the journey without a number of children, some of his own and some of their friends. On the train the children were allowed to run in the corridors,
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get up on the baggage racks and have the greatest fun while John read the paper, oblivious to the situation. His tolerance was rare in those days. He set a
fine example and was loved and admired.

In January, 1916, John owned 9 properties and ran 39,000 sheep and some cattle.

John’s son, Claude and his family lived at Trevellyan after John’s death in 1920. The pine tree Claude planted the day World War 2 ended still stands. Not
so the house. Trevellyan was sold and the house demolished, the iron lace selling for $5000. How sad it is that these beautiful old houses are not restored!
The tree lined drive and one small shed is all that remains. Trevellyan was lived in and enjoyed by three generations of Glassons.*
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Here are Donald on the left, Robert who was about 11, probably Richard who was 16 at the time, Kathleen and Dudley at Trevellyan, probably 1913. It
looks like Dudley is holding a pipe! Robert and Richard are wearing their Kings School blozers.

The property, Slapdash, in the article below, was purchased for CASH.
A Blayney Purchase National Advocate (Bathurst, NSW : 1889 — 1954) Monday 27 April 1908 p 2
Mr. H. R. M. Pigott stock and station agent, Blayney, reports having sold, in conjunction with a Sydney firm, to Mr. John Glasson, of * Trevellyan,’ Blayney, on

account of the executors of the late Vincent Dowling, * Slap Dash ° station, near Gulgong, comprising 22,168 acres of freehold, c.p. (crown) and o.1. (lease) land,
together with 10,500 sheep, 800 head of cattle and working plant, for a satisfactory price for cash.
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Carting the wool before road trains! About 1900. This time it is a bullock team doing the pulling.

Life on a country property at the turn of the 19th century.

Although in 1904, Sydney acquired electric light, children in the country still grew up with candles and kerosene lamps, as their forebears had lived for generations.
Housework occupied all the women of the family (and their maids if they had them) with jobs such as making candles, making clothes, washing clothes and of
course cooking all the food which was consumed, using a wood stove. My grandmother, Kathleen, was a wonderful cook and loved to cook for family.

There would have been an outdoor pit toilet or two, but chamber pots under the bed were standard at night. Of course they all had to be emptied every morning. My
grandmother still had chamber pots when I was a little girl, but I thought they were quite unnecessary — and why not use the flush toilet?

Here is an article, called Power for the People, which describes the first time electiricty was switched on in Sydney;

‘Thursday, July 8, 2004, marked the 100th anniversary of public electricity in Sydney, when the electric streetlights of the inner city were turned on for the first time.

All over Sydney that morning of July 8, 1904, people were waking up, lighting bedroom oil lamps, and stirring last night’s coal grate to spark up some hopefully
latent warmth.

In those households which didn t have the new-fangled gas water-heaters in their bathrooms, water would be put on to heat in kettles over gas cookers or fuel stoves,
partly for the morning wash, partly for the breakfast tea and porridge. Then the working adults would set off to the local stop or station to catch the steam train or
the new electric tram into work in the city or nearby suburbs.

The housewives would begin their arduous day, packing children off to school, lighting gas or chip-burning “coppers” to start boiling up the washing, cleaning
grates, and getting in the day s coal or wood; then thinking about what provisions were needed from the corner store for the evening s meal.

The ceremony 8/7/1904:

Due to the inclement conditions, few turned up at a ceremony at the new power house building in Pyrmont, under the tall brick chimney from which smoke had been
wisping for most of the dingy afternoon. The party consisted of the Lord Mayor and his group, aldermen of the City Council, the Town Clerk, some senior officials
and some engineers.

At Spm sharp, the Lord Mayor, the Right Worshipful Samuel E. Lees, pulled the lever that released the steam from the station s boilers and set the generators in
motion. Then the Lady Mayoress, Mrs Lees, turned a golden key that switched on the electric current. And so, much to everyone's surprise, the lights first came on all
over what is now the CBD. People scurrying through the rain at first thought it was a particularly bright flash of lightning. But it stayed on. Sydney would never be
the same again.*

Getting together country style:
Apart from the lack of modern amenities and the weight of home duties, life in the country was busy and interesting. Families were big, there was plenty of work and
plenty of enjoyment of leisure times too. Homesteads had a tennis court and tennis parties were regularly held, when young people could get together and the host

family provided lots of home made cakes and biscuits. Kathleen was a whiz at cakes, especially rock cakes, sponge cakes and Swiss rolls.

Country dances and agricultural shows were also part of the calendar. Swimming in the river would have been the substitute for summer swimming pools....
Schooling

All the children boarded at private secondary schools. The girls went to Ascham, Edgecliff, the three older boys went to Newington, a Methodist college in Stanmore
(now Uniting Church), where their father had been a student and the three younger ones went to The King’s School, Parramatta.

Kathleen hated the name ‘Lucy’, which was such a popular one for the older generation, and insisted on being called Kathleen. She arrived at Ascham, aged 14 years
and 5 months at the start of Term 2, 1904 and left in June 1907 (which was when the academic year ended in that era). She would turn 18 in August 1907. She is on
the Honour Board for German at Ascham. Before the Great War, German was much taught in schools. (Out of 5 granddaughters, three studied foreign languages at
university level!) Kathleen would have been at Ascham for the switching-on of the electricity!
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At Stanwell Park, swimming in probably the Parramatta River. Note the undies! Rania McPhillamy behind Kathleen in the middle.
The photo of three girls at the river was taken on the occasion of the boarders’ picnic to Stanwell Park, November 11, 1905.

Rania McPhillamy is credited in the school photographs because her work in establishing a canteen with Dame Alison Chisholm for the AIF (Australian Infantry
Forces) and other soldiers in Kantara in Egypt, This work won her an MBE (Member of the British Empire) and OBE (Order of the British Empire). It seems that
she was a close friend of Kathleen’s at school and that is why the photos include Kathleen! They are held in an album donated to the school by Mrs Antoinette Carter,
wife of the second Principal of Ascham, Mr Herbert J Carter, held at Series 182, Ascham School Archives, Mrs Antoinette Carter Collection.

The Blues basketball team in 1907, the year Kathleen left school. Rania is second from left and Kathleen, who looks just like my cousin Ina, is holding
the ball!

i think it is obvious from the photographs that my grandmother was a fun-loving girl, popular with the other students. The girls on each side of her look like young
ladies, whilst Kathleen looks a bit like a happy tomboy. She was only 4 feet 11 inches tall and wore size 2 shoes. You can see that her feet are not touching the
ground!

At home, although she must have had responsibilities as the eldest daughter, she also had three brothers close in age as well as other siblings to play with. Her
Jfavourite brother was Donald, a year older, whom she talked about all her life. In photos he is always present.

Here is Donald (on the right) with Kathleen visiting with her friend Rania McPhillamy (and her brothers?). The girls have their hair down, so they are probably not
twenty-one yet, making it about 1909.
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Kathleen did woodcarving, perhaps at home, as her mother also did woodcarving.

=

Desk carved by Kathleen now the property of Julie Woodhill, well used still!
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You can see the initials AMG for Anne Margaret Glasson on the right hand door. Also with Julie Woodhill.

When Kathleen left school just before her 18th birthday in 1907, she would have gone home to a busy family life. Joyce was 2 years old, Keith was 4 and Robert 6.
Kathleen became an excellent cook, would have made clothes and helped with the little ones. As well as the chores, she had plenty of time for fun with siblings and
cousins and of course tennis parties. She had a sulky which she drove herself, probably with a brother or two. Here is a photo of Dudley and Kathleen in a sulky.

file:///C:/Users/Research/Desktop/My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. ... 14/135



3/25/25, 2:42 PM My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. | westgarth and gla...

R

Probably 1914 as they have baby John. Someone has written on the back.

Kathleen turned 21, which was adulthood in those days, on 3rd August 1910. The same month, on 27th August, Dudley was appointed to the solicitor’s office in
Blayney. Here is a copy of a miniature of my grandmother, Kathleen, probably done for her 21st birthday.

A young woman with her hair up. Her expression is gentle and tender.

Dudley, who would have had introductions to the Glassons through the Allens, was attending tennis parties and dances and getting to know Donald, Claude and Eric
who were not much younger. He also courted Kathleen.

Dudley is not suitable to marry Kathleen.

When Kathleen’s father, John, realised that his daughter had fallen for the charming Dudley, he was not impressed. Dudley was socially ambitious and did not abstain
from cigarettes and alcohol as was part of Methodism. If he attended church, he probably did not show a deep faith either! However, it was 1911 and Kathleen would
soon be 22 years old, a marriageable age.

Trip to Java 1911.

John’s solution was to send Kathleen on a cruise to Java and give her time to ‘come to her senses’. She must have gone with a chaperone or members of her family.
In Java they would have seen and experienced a land and a culture richer than they could have ever imagined in rural Australia.
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Temple guard at Prambanan Hindu temple Jogjakarta.

1 remember batik bedspreads which intrigued me at age 4. I had never seen material like that before. I have a strange brass vase with enamelling on it, which must
have been a souvenir of Java. And an ancient coolie hat! Now an antique.

A strange vase, which must have had a purpose.

Quarantine!

Unfortunately whilst she was holidaying, smallpox broke out in Java. The Dutch colony had already suffered from the plague and other fatal illnesses in
recent years. For fear of contagion amongst the citizens of Sydney, Kathleen and the rest of the passengers were quarantined on the North Head of the
harbour.

Passengers arriving at the quarantine station in hundreds!
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Quarantine station full to overloading??
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© Quarantine station

Perhaps a postcard recording the ‘holiday’?

This article from July 15 1913 expresses the fear of smallpox and the limited treatment available even two years later:
https:/trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/66661170?searchTerm=smallpox%20in%20Java%201911 &searchLimits=

SYDNEY’S PROBLEM. ‘No abatement of the small pox epidemic in Sydney can yet be reported. On Saturday and Sunday 25 sufferers were discovered. They were
sent to the quarantine station, where there were an Sunday night 200 persons, including 65 patients, 112 convalescents, and 23 contacts. In other cases the contacts
are simply vaccinated. No fewer than 15,881 persons submitted themselves for treatment on Saturday and Sunday at the free public vaccination depots in the city and
suburbs. This does not include those who were vaccinated elsewhere. Amongst the number are employees of business places and factories, where wholesale
vaccination is the order of the day. So far no person seems to have died of small pox since the beginning of the outbreak. It was reported on Sunday that, there had
been a couple of fatal cases, but inquiries at the Public Health Department elicited the statement that the reports were incorrect.

The outbreak of small pox in Sydney has aroused the Governments of the other States, to the necessity of taking, precautions against the danger of the disease being
introduced into their States, and the Dominion of New Zealand has taken the drastic step of declining to allow any more lymph being sent to Sydney. The matter is an
important one, and the necessity of being prepared for any contingency is apparent. Under the present circumstances it is the duty of the Government to seriously
consider the possibility of establishing a lymph farm in West Australia, for if anything in the nature of an outbreak occurred, the stock of lymph on hand would be
speedily exhausted.

Apart from the terrible disfigurement which is always the sequel to an attack of small pox when the patients recover, it is as well that people should realise what
a high percentage of deaths occur. In Java from August 29, 1911, to Decemberlst 1912, there were 362 deaths out of 871 cases. In the Straits Settlement
between October 8th and November 11, there were four cases, of which one proved fatal, whilst between November 11th and December 9th, the single case that
occurred terminated fatally.”

Whilst Kathleen was quarantined on the shores of Sydney Harbour, my grandfather swam from Manly to North Head to visit her. As you can imagine, this was
forbidden, but he told me himself that they met on the beach during her time in quarantine.

A modern photo. You can see the beach where they met. Top right is South Head.
Engagement:

When Kathleen returned, Dudley was still in Blayney and the relationship did not end. Kathleen was 22 years old and in love with Dudley, so her father allowed the
engagement around the end of 1911.
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The Broken Pledge

John Glasson was not happy, as I have explained, about Kathleen marrying a man who smoked and drank and did not seem to fit in with the Glasson values. He made
a condition of the engagement that Dudley should ‘Take the Pledge’. (I have already written about the Pledge, which was taken up by the churches because from
from the second half of the nineteenth century alcoholism became a family problem. Taking the Pledge meant a lifetime commitment to teetotalism.) Dudley took the

Pledge, as he told me himself, but he did not keep it and continued his lifestyle. Perhaps he crossed his fingers behind his back?? Anyway it would have been
better for him to take the advice of John Glasson as this duplicity had consequences for his health later.

Marriage:
On April 10th, 1912, Dudley and Kathleen became man and wife. It was recorded in the Family Notices of the Sydney Morning Herald on 27th April 1912, page 14.

WESTGARTH - GLASSON

On April 10th 1912 at Wesleyan Chapel, Blayney, by Reveren William M Woodhouse, Dudley, fourth son of the late George Charles Westgarth, of Sydney, solicitor,
to Lucy Kathleen, eldest daughter of John Glasson of Trevellyan, Blayney.
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As you can see, they were married in the Methodist Church, Blayney. The Glassons had great Methodist faith and formed a Cornish community centred
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It was 1912, the Edwardian Era, when Australia was ‘riding on the sheep’s back’ and in every country town new buildings were being erected to display the
new prosperity hard-won by colonists over the previous century. King Edward VII was Emperor of a vast empire which had brought wealth and power to

Britain. Australia was a member of the British Commonwealth of Nations, after Federation in 1901, but still fiercely loyal to Britain and with a ‘White
Australia Policy’.

Only two years later, in August, the Great War took away so many, who rushed to enlist or were bullied into it. Donald and Claude Glasson would both go to war.

‘Out of a population of fewer than five million, 416,809 men enlisted, of which 62,000 were killed and 156,000 wounded, gassed, or taken prisoner’.

https://guides.slv.vic.gov.au/wwone soldiers/casualties

However, in 1912, Dudley and Kathleen began their happiness at their home in Blayney, called ‘Laramie’. This definitely looks like the newlyweds at their first

home.
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A cup of tea outside, or on the verandah are my abiding memories of home life with my grandparents.

Here is a recent photo from Realestate.com which show that some of the home is in original condition a hundred years later! The front steps and lattice are gone.

Blayney “Laramie”, house and garden 24 Martha Street Lot 1, DP 526906 Local 17
The lattice in the photo of Kathleen with three children has disappeared.

The house is registered on the list of Blayney historic buildings in the Blayney Local Environmental Plan 2012
https:/legislation.nsw.gov.au/~/view/EP1/2012/573/historical2015-11-13/sch5

2020 view of Laramie
I visited the house in November and found that it is really a wreck, with a leaking roof. Being on the busy main road through Blayney and being only of

weatherboard construction, it is very unlikely that anyone would wish to restore it. There is a protection order on the tree in the picture which must have been there
when the Westgarths lived there 100 years ago.
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You can see how delapidated it is, so uncared-for.
Married Life for Kathleen and Dudley
After a year, on May 4th 1913, Kathleen gave birth to a son, who was of course called ‘John’ and also ‘Dudley’, viz: John Dudley Westgarth.
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My father’s birth certificate, signed by George Pile. Below is Dudley aged 25 showing baby John Dudley to some admiring friends.

oo 7% . S

4

e, Kathleen’s little sister, who was only 9 years older than John.

Baby not interested in girls! This is probably Joyc
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And here he is at Trevellyan showing off his lovely baby who likes being thrown up in the air. Probably the same day as the photo with Kathleen’s
brothers at Trevellyan.

This must have been such a happy time for Kathleen, with her own home, a son and the support of Kathleen’s large family including the Cornish Settlement no

doubt. On the other hand, Dudley must have been very busy with his partnership with George Pile, his work for the Show Society and his membership of the
Freemasons. In 1918 he and George Pile registered sheep brands in the Pastures Protection Act of 1912, for a property called ‘Fernhill” at Marengo New South Wales.
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John. Probably a portrait for his first birthday. He is wearing the latest in baby wear because I have a picture of my mother in exactly the same outfit.
Probably all hand made.

Dudley was so busy outside the home from the time of their marriage, but soon after John was born, Kathleen found herself pregnant again. A baby girl
was born on May 24th, 1914, just over a year from the birth of John, Nancy Ruth Dudley Westgarth.

The second baby was not an easy one. I am sure many mothers would understand what is meant by that remark. It means little sleep, lots of worry and
constant busyness at a time when meals were all home cooked, clothes were sewn at home and washing took a whole day! Kathleen would have had a cook
and a maid or two, but the effort of the two babies sent her into a depression.

At least the children had three grandmothers, but two of them lived in Sydney. Anne Margaret Glasson, called Little Granny, lived until 1942, by which time my
father was married! Here is her death certificate, signed by Uncle Eric:
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She had moved to Rose Bay, Sydney at some stage and may have been living with Eric, who had no children.

Char’s step grandmother, Lorne Mary Ann Mansfield, lived until 1930, so the children would have known her well. She was known as Granny Mansfield.
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Lorne lived in Elizabeth Bay, Sydney. Aunt Poppy, Char’s sister, was the witness on the certificate.
MAYOR OF BLAYNEY

Dudley was obviously an ambitious young man. He was a country town solicitor who took part in many town activities and belonged to influential societies.

Dudley was very well connected socially through the marriages of his father and his siblings. On top of this, George Charles had known many influential people in
the legal fraternity and politics, such as Sir Edmund Barton, Sir Garfield Barwick, Sir Samuel Griffiths, Sir Arthur Wigram Allen and Sir John Robertson. I# is nice to
see that Dudley used his social position and his connections to do many helpful things for family and friends. Stephen said: ” I got the impression Dudley was
frequently called upon*.

Dudley helps out.

Stephen told me that, being a country boy, he had a scholarship to All Saints College in Bathurst. “It was an academic scholarship... only 4 sat it | My brothers went
to All Saints courtesy of church choir scholarships, but I was able to ungraciously ditch the choir immediately..... “

One year, perhaps after a mediocre report, the school decided to reduce his scholarship to a half scholarship. Judy and David asked Dudley for help. He was able to
get Sir Garfield Barwick to write a letter, whereupon the school dropped the plan to reduce the scholarship!

Sir Garfield Edward John Barwick, AK GCMG QC was an Australian judge who was the seventh and longest serving Chief Justice of Australia, in office from 1964
to 1981. He had earlier been a Liberal Party politician, serving as a minister in the Menzies Government from 1958 to 1964. Wikipedia

The Great War:

On 4th August war with Germany was declared in Britain and soon after in Australia and many of the young men of the Blayney joined up.

Dudley had two children and Kathleen was not coping at home. He stayed behind in an “essential industry” and in 1915, on 9th November, he was elected Mayor of
Blayney. He was soon involved in the war effort. Here is a notice from The Bathurst Times, Saturday 20th November 1915, page 5:
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AT the request of the STATE WAR COUNCIL, we the undersigned hereby convene
A PUBLIC MEETING
To be held at the TOWN HALL, BLAYNEY On MONDAY, 22nd Inst., at 8 p.m.
For the purpose of forming a WAR SERVICE COMMITTEE .
For the Shire of Lyndhurst.
To act in conjunction with the STATE WAR COUNCIL.
JOSHUA KELLY, President, Lyndhurst Shire Council.
DUDLEY WESTGARTH, Mayor of Blayney.
L. L. DAVIS, Mayor of Carcoar.
The decision not to join up must have been a hard one for young men, who had to find an excuse or be given a white feather as a coward. Dudley’s own brother,
Mervyn, only a year younger, signed up in the Light Horse. Dudley had the excuse of his family, his employment and his role in the community. Post war, he was
responsible for many Aussie war graves.
Problems at home: My aunt Mollie told me that in 1915, Kathleen asked Dudley to sleep separately because she was so afraid of getting pregnant a third time.
Dudley probably did not like the idea and Kathleen’s mother heard of the plan. She, of course, had 8 children between 1886 and 1897 and 3 more after that, but her
husband was a grazier and a home loving man. He was also very wealthy and probably employed a lot of servants.
Kathleen’s mother instructed her daughter that ‘a wife must not deny her husband‘. Kathleen obeyed and the dreaded event happened — she was pregnant again! The

baby was a lovely boy, Brian Dudley Westgarth, born on New Year’s Day 1917. John was 3, Nancy was 2 and there was so much washing!! And Dudley often away
from home.

Here she is, on the steps at Laramie, the sweet happy girl of 1912 now a mother of three five years later. She looks so tired. The new baby, Brian, is
bonny! The children are well dressed and have good socks and shoes, an indication that the family is prosperous, but clothes were home made or else
bought from a good quality store. And no washing machine!

“On a Tired Housewife” is an anonymous poem about the housewife’s lot https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Housewife

Here lies a poor woman who was always tired,

She lived in a house where help wasn’t hired:

Her last words on earth were: “Dear friends, I am going
To where there’s no cooking, or washing, or sewing,
For everything there is exact to my wishes,
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For where they don’t eat there’s no washing of dishes.
I’ll be where loud anthems will always be ringing,
But having no voice I'll be quit of the singing.

Don’t mourn for me now, don’t mourn for me never,

I am going to do nothing for ever and ever.”’[28]

Brian’s Birthday?

Judy Westgarth sent me this beautiful pictue of John and Nancy in their best clothes, with their toddler brother, Brian. It may be Brian’s first birthday on
Jan 1 1918. John would be 4 and Nancy 3. Imagine washing, starching and ironing the clothes that Nancy is wearing!!

TEETH
Kathleen also had false teeth since before her marriage. The Glasson family must have had bad teeth (as my father did and I have, in spite of trying to take care of
them). The familiy had decided that she was better off to have all her teeth taken out! Dentistry at the time was something to be endured, as it was for me in the

1940s.

Here is a website about British dentistry, which was of course the same in Australia, though perhaps with a time lag of a few years. Click on the title below:

How Britain’s dental industry improved in the 20th Century_

the Dentists act.

But it wasn’t until 1921 that the practice of dentistry was limited to those who were professionally qualified.

Even so, twentieth century dentistry was still so costly that some people opted to have all their teeth pulled out to spare
themselves a lifetime of pain.

THE FIRST WORLD WAR 1914-1918

(called The Great War until it happened again)

At the outbreak of the war Dudley made a will for his brother Mervyn, who was a year younger and his special friend amongst his siblings. (You can read all about
Mervyn in the blog about Lucy Florence). Tragically Mervyn died of pneumonia on 19th February 1918 in Cairo and Dudley had the management of his estate. He
became responsible for the upkeep of the war grave of Mervyn and other First World War soldiers who did not return. Dudley never got over the loss and always
talked about his brother Mervyn.

It was not only Mervyn and John Ellesmere Westgarth who joined up to fight in 1914. The eldest Glasson boys also ‘answered the call’. Donald went to
England and joined the Royal Flying Corps and Claude joined the Light Horse. Like the two Westgarths, Claude was sent to Gallipoli.

Donald Glasson travelled to England and joined the RFC.

Here is some information from the Forces War Records in the UK:
Donald Havelock Glasson

Rank:Second Lieutenant

Regiment:Royal Flying Corps

Archive Reference: WO 372/8/31890
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(Can be found at The National Archives in Kew, and contains First World War, War Office: Service Medal and Award Rolls Index)

Royal Flying Corps during World War 1. Formed: 1912

The Royal Flying Corps (RFC) was the over-land air arm of the British military during most of the First World War. During the early part of the war, the RFC's
responsibilities were centred on support of the British Army, via artillery co-operation and photographic reconnaissance. This work gradually led RFC pilots into
aerial battles with German pilots and later in the war included the strafing of enemy infantry and emplacements, the bombing of German military airfields and later
the strategic bombing of German industrial and transportation facilities. At the start of World War I the RFC, commanded by David Henderson, consisted of five
squadrons — one observation balloon squadron (RFC No 1 Squadron) and four aeroplane squadrons (RFC No 2 and No 3 Squadrons were the first fixed-wing flying
squadrons in the world). These were first used for aerial spotting on 13 September 1914, but only became efficient when they perfected the use of wireless
communication at Aubers Ridge on 9 May 1915. Aerial photography was attempted during 1914, but again only became effective the next year. By 1918,
photographic images could be taken from 15,000 feet, and interpreted by over 3,000 personnel. Parachutes were not available to pilots of the RFC's heavier-than-air
craft — nor were they used by the RAF during the First World War — although the Calthrop Guardian Angel parachute (1916 model) was officially adopted just as the
war ended. By this time parachutes had been used by balloonists for three years. On 17 August 1917, South African General Jan Smuts presented a report to the War
Council on the future of air power. Because of its potential for the ‘devastation of enemy lands and the destruction of industrial and populous centres on a vast
scale’, he recommended a new air service be formed that would be on a level with the Army and Royal Navy. The formation of the new service would, however, make
the under-utilised men and machines of the Royal Naval Air Service (RNAS) available for action across the Western Front, as well as ending the inter-service
rivalries that at times had adversely affected aircraft procurement. On 1 April 1918, the RFC and the RNAS were amalgamated to form a new service, the Royal Air
Force (RAF). The RAF was under the control of the new Air Ministry. After starting in 1914 with some 2,073 personnel, by the start of 1919 the RAF had 4,000
combat aircraft and 114,000 personnel. Disbanded: 1918

This information is contained in the Nominal index of all service personnel serving in a theatre of war 1914-1919

Tragic Death of Donald:

Here is Donald in beautiful leather riding boots and jodhpurs, with his favourite dog, in peacetime. Photo taken by Joan.

In 1917, Donald was killled in Thessalonika, northern Greece, which was then part of Turkey. Kathleen never got over the death of her favourite brother, which
came two months after Brian was born. My grandmother often talked to me about her brother Donald.
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DONALD’S PLANE.

The plane flown by Donald, a BE 2c was first produced by the Royal Aircraft Factory in 1914. It’s in-built

stability gave it easy “hands off™ flying qualities but this apparently desirable quality caused it to be at a

serious disadvantage and easily out-manouvered by the Fokker monoplanes which shot down the BE 2c¢s in

great numbers. Many changes were made to the planes’ armaments during its years of production and they
were still in service in 1918 long after they had become obsolete.

ke !

This photograph was on the mantelpiece of a doctor, whose life Donald had saved during an air battle.

Campaign Medals:

Victory Medal With the information in Donald Havelock Glasson’s record, it is likely that he was entitled to the Victory medal, also called the Inter Allied Victory
Medal. This medal was awarded to all who received the 1914 Star or 1914-15 Star and, with certain exceptions, to those who received the British War Medal. It was
never awarded alone. These three medals were sometimes irreverently referred to as Pip, Squeak and Wilfred.

British War Medal With the information in Donald Havelock Glasson’s record, it is likely that he was entitled to the British War Medal for service in World War
One. This British Empire campaign medal was issued for services between Sth August 1914 and 11th November 1918.The medal was automatically awarded in the
event of death on active service before the completion of this period.

Donald’s schooling at Newington:

I wrote to the Archivist at Newington whom I found to be worth every dollar of his salary. This is what I received:

‘Donald Havelock Glasson entered the College in 1902. He passed the Junior Examination, a public examination administered by the University of Sydney, in 1904,
also playing rugby in the 13! XV that year. He likely left at the end of 1904 or thereabouts. I have attached a photograph of the team’.
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- NEWINGTON FIRST FOOTBALL XV., 1904. 4 i
_ . - o SR 5]

Top Row—de Clogne, Colwell, Mr. Duchanan, Glasson, (foates, ¢
Centre Row—Gale i, Woodward, Moffat, Elliott (Capt.y’ Grey, Findlay
Bottom Row—Davies i, Newman, Gilli, Tuylori 1 -

-

Donald is second from right in the back row.

The archivist at Newington sent this information: ‘Donald was killed on the Macedonian Front while serving with the Royal Flying Corps on 12 March 1917. His
name appears on our First World War Honour Roll. Here is his obituary, which appeared in the June 1917 issue of The Newingtonian*:

Donald Glasson belongs to a generation far removed from our
Ken, Coming in 1902, he, like Dingle, entered the modern side,
and in 1903 was dux of Upper Modern, The Junior came in 1904,
and he gained a very ereditable pass,  He was in the 1st XV, for
1904, From all accounts he was much the same  character as
Dingle: not bhrilliant, but solid and steady, He was  Killed at
Salonika, in the Flying Corps.

Donald is buried in Skopje, Macedonia, in the British War Cemetery, Grave B6. https:/en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Macedonian Front
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2021 Breaking News! Donald was engaged to be married!

1 have had only a few responses to this blog so far, but the best one has been from Jacquelyn Brown, nee Bray, who, during Covid lockdown in Bath, UK, decided to
look at her grandmother s souvenirs. Finding evidence of a fiance, called Donald Glasson, Jacquelyn followed the fashion and went online to search the name....and
she found my blog!

A need-to-know fact: Mudgee is a country town in New South Wales directly north of Bathurst and Blayney.
https:/www.google.com/maps/place/Mudgee+NSW+2850/(@-32.5478508,148.0345382,8z/data=14m5!3m4! 150x6b0e896323923b2d:0x40609b490436870!8m?2!3d-
32.614456614d149.5733291

Dear Patricia,

My name is Jacquelyn Brown (nee Bray), and I am the granddaughter of Joan Mary Nickoll, who was born in 1894 and brought up in Mudgee along with her
brothers Roger and Oliver, who both went to World War 1. When my mother died, (Joan's eldest daughter), in 2006, I found my grandmother s school record from
SCEGGS Moss Vale, which showed that she had a fiance, Donald Glasson, who was killed in 1917. It also showed she was clever at school and received the French
and German prizes. She then married my grandfather, Alexander Hordern Young.

All the girls in our family went to Ascham (as did Donald's sisters) and I was head girl in 1963. I now live near Bath in the UK and as we are locked down and we
are reading A Fortunate Life by AB Facey, in our book club, I thought about my grandmother and how she never mentioned her engagement and neither did anyone
else in the family. I wanted to know more about Donald and his family and found your blog fascinating. I have sent an email to my mother s sister and my cousins in
Sydney asking if they know any of this background. My cousin Primrose’s two sons also went to Newington, but I dont think she had any idea about the Glassons.

1 should be so grateful if you have any information about their relationship and if they were officially engaged. If it was true, it shows how different a life she would
have had if Donald had lived. There was so much I wish I had asked my grandmother. I guess most people feel like that.

Best wishes,
Jacquelyn Brown, Wednesday 13th January 2021

Joan’s treasure box
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This little box which unmistakably came from Egypt, was sent to her with gifts from Donald, gifts which she treasured all her life.

Here is the box as she kept it, with the collar of her favourite dog and a note from her husband, Alexander Young.
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Here is the box as it was originally sent to her by Donald, with his note and three trinkets: a mummy pendant, a gold plane and his Royal Flying Corps badge.
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Dear Jacquelyn,

My grandmother often talked about Donald but never said he was engaged. As the family was so upright, he probably promised to marry her after the war, but we
will never know. I am so pleased to hear of his romance.

1l write again soon, Trish Westgarth, now Wilkinson
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A note kept for 90 years, now over a century old, which adds to my understanding of the tremendous loss my grandparents endured.

And here is the school record, which made public the engagement.

At the lower end of this record are the Old Girls’ Union entries, recording the beginning and end of the engagement:
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1916 engaged to Mr Donald Glasson. 1917, sympathey to Joan Mickoll on the death of Donald Glasson.

Victoria Hall, Jacquelyn’s cousin, has been asking about Donald. She sent this email about Joan, whom the family called ‘Guggles’:

Hi darling, Donald has always been referred to as Guggle s fiance, but will grill mum tomorrow, about dates etc. I have seen the photos of Donald and Guggles in
old photos (with dates) will look for them !!! Mum remembers well, Donald's younger sister saying to Guggles, how much the family adored her, but not sure re the
formalities of an engagement!?!? So interesting!!!

So I am hoping a photo will turn up, with Victoria in Sydney doing her best for “Guggles”, her grandmother Joan.

Here is a bit more background for Joan and her family:
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Joan’s father was a doctor, born in England. They married in Albury and moved to Mudgee before she was born. She had a brother 4 years older.

More excitement! The photos are coming! Here is Jacquelyn’s reply:

I have just spoken to Victoria and she will get the photos this week. She is working so doesn 't have a lot of time off. She asked her mother Robin (Joan s daughter)
about the engagement and her mother said that it was unofficial but they had agreed to marry after the War. Apparently Donald told her he didn t believe in war but

felt it his duty to enlist.
My aunt also said that my grandmother simply refused to believe it when told he was dead and didn 't accept it for a very long time. She kept the box on her dressing

table all her life. The black thing is actually from the collar of her little dog she had when a teenager.
1t’s such a sad story and I wish I had known and could have discussed it with her. My mother (Joan's elder daughter Diana Young) never even mentioned it to me

and I only found out when reading my grandmother’s SCEGGS Old Girls resume.
Victoria also said that when my grandmother met Donald's youngest sister through Jenny Cudmore she told her that the whole family thought she was “really

beautiful’
Photos to follow. I really loved my grandmother and it would be wonderful for her to be recognised in the Glasson family history. Her life could have. been so
different if Donald had lived.

Jacquelyn

The Evidence
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Here are Donald and Joan in a Bullnose Morris, February 1916, probably on their way to the ship which will take Donald to the war.

Donald was the eldest son of a wealthy grazier. He had a car to take Joan driving — not the usual thing in 1916. This Morris was first manufactured in the UK in
1913, so it is unlikely that many people had one, or any other type of car:

Morris Oxford bullnose

The “bullnose” Morris Oxford is a series of motor car models produced by Morris of the United Kingdom, from 1913 to 1926. It was named by W R Morris after the
city in which he grew up and which his cars were to industrialise. WikipediaManufacturer: Morris MotorsClass: Compact carRelated: Morris Cowley,

Jacquelyn and Victoria have photos of Donald and Joan on a ship, called the Medina. Victoria found that it was a troopship at the time:

file:///C:/Users/Research/Desktop/My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. ... 42/135


https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Morris_Oxford_bullnose
https://www.google.com/search?safe=active&rlz=1C1JZAP_enAU874AU874&q=morris+oxford+bullnose+manufacturer&stick=H4sIAAAAAAAAAOPgE-LWz9U3MDQqKUtOz9PSzSi30k_Oz8lJTS7JzM_TTywtyc_NT8rMSY3PzU9JzSm2yk3MK01LTC4pLUotWsSqnJtfVJRZrJBfkZZflKKQVJqTk5dfnKqArAoAbw-h0mQAAAA&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwizh9CQhebuAhVOgtgFHWjgA58Q6BMoADATegQIExAC
https://www.google.com/search?safe=active&rlz=1C1JZAP_enAU874AU874&q=Morris+Motors&stick=H4sIAAAAAAAAAOPgE-LWz9U3MDQqKUtOz1PiBHNSLJPLtHQzyq30k_NzclKTSzLz8_QTS0vyc_OTMnNS43PzU1Jziq1yE_NK0xKTS0qLUosWsfL65hcVZRYr-OaX5BcV72BlBABb2DUDXAAAAA&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwizh9CQhebuAhVOgtgFHWjgA58QmxMoATATegQIExAD
https://www.google.com/search?safe=active&rlz=1C1JZAP_enAU874AU874&q=morris+oxford+bullnose+class&stick=H4sIAAAAAAAAAOPgE-LWz9U3MDQqKUtOz9NSyyi30k_Oz8lJTS7JzM_TTywtyc_NT8rMSY3PzU9JzSm2Ss5JLC5exCqTm19UlFmskF-Rll-UopBUmpOTl1-cqgCWBgDkilCzVgAAAA&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwizh9CQhebuAhVOgtgFHWjgA58Q6BMoADAUegQIEhAC
https://www.google.com/search?safe=active&rlz=1C1JZAP_enAU874AU874&q=Compact+car&stick=H4sIAAAAAAAAAOPgE-LWz9U3MDQqKUtOz1PiBHGMisur4rXUMsqt9JPzc3JSk0sy8_P0E0tL8nPzkzJzUuNz81NSc4qtknMSi4sXsXI75-cWJCaXKCQnFu1gZQQADHk7gVMAAAA&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwizh9CQhebuAhVOgtgFHWjgA58QmxMoATAUegQIEhAD
https://www.google.com/search?safe=active&rlz=1C1JZAP_enAU874AU874&q=morris+oxford+bullnose+related&stick=H4sIAAAAAAAAAOPgE-LWz9U3MDQqKUtOz9PSyCi30k_Oz8lJTS7JzM_TTywtyc_NT8rMSY3PzU9JzSm2KkrNSSxJTVnEKpebX1SUWayQX5GWX5SikFSak5OXX5yqAFUAALuXTwpaAAAA&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwizh9CQhebuAhVOgtgFHWjgA58Q6BMoADAVegQIERAC
https://www.google.com/search?safe=active&rlz=1C1JZAP_enAU874AU874&q=Morris+Cowley&stick=H4sIAAAAAAAAAOPgE-LWz9U3MDQqKUtOz1PiBHGSMgwMs7Q0Msqt9JPzc3JSk0sy8_P0E0tL8nPzkzJzUuNz81NSc4qtilJzEktSUxax8vrmFxVlFis455fnpFbuYGUEAF228JFXAAAA&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwizh9CQhebuAhVOgtgFHWjgA58QmxMoATAVegQIERAD

3/25/25, 2:42 PM My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. | westgarth and gla...

% @ RMS Medina (1911) - Wiki...

en.m.wikipedia.org

RMS Medina was an ocean liner built by Caird
and Company, Greenock, Scotland, in 1911,["]
for the Peninsular and Oriental Steam
Navigation Company. She was a Royal Mail
Ship intended for use on the London to
Australia routel’! and was the last of the ten
ships in P&0's M-Class.!"l Between November
1911 and February 1912 Medina took King
George V and Queen Mary to India for the
Delhi Durbar. Medina was lost when she was
torpedoed on 28 April 1917.
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February 17th. Here is Joan on the Medina, in her best white dress and shoes, hiding her face, but her engagement ring is clear to see.
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Here is Donald in his best white trousers and shoes, on the deck of the Medina with Joan. A sad photo.
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Here he is dressed for travelling to join the Royal Flying Corps. The colours are those of the RFC uniform and the hat is ok. He probably would not have
had the authentic uniform out in Blayney and has had something approximate made up.
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I found this picture of a member of the Royal Navy Air Service who is wearing clothes similar to Donald.
There are many colour pictures on the web of RFC men with jackets the same shade as Donald’s above.

So Donald’s love story is now told. He told his sweetheart that he did not want to fight, but felt obliged. Perhaps, as he loved machines, he chose the Flying
Corps. Joan married Alexander Young and lived to be 100 years old!

The Australian War Memorial Canberra:

Donald is on the Honour Roll at the War Memorial. Here are the details if you look for him:

¢ Lieutenant Donald Havelock Glasson

o Death Date: 12 March 1917

e Service: British Army

¢ Units: No 47 Squadron Royal Flying Corps and British Army

¢ Commemorative Roll in the War Memorial courtyard: No 47 Royal Flying Corps

AFTERWARDS

Here is a picture of John and Nancy, perhaps with their Aunt Ruth, who would have been about 22. It may be Summer, 1918. Perhaps it is a sad gathering in memory
of Donald Glasson or Mervyn. They are in their best clothes. It could be Armistice Day, November 11 1918, or maybe a birthday party!

Brian would be having a sleep. John looks about 5 and Nancy 4.
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Not many toys in those days and lots of clothes to wash and iron....

While Kathleen struggled on with the three children, Dudley was busy with his practice and with his duties for the war effort. Red Cross and other war charities must
have been a constant in everyone’s lives during these years when so many sons and brothers had gone to war.

Mervyn’s death:

This was not the only tragedy of the First World War for Dudley and Kathleen. Dudley’s favourite brother, Mervyn, just one year younger, did of pneumonia at the
beginning of 1918. This is all documented in the blog about Lucy Florence. So Dudley and Kathleen had each lost their closest brother to the war. At least it must
have created a bond of sympathy.

Jack and Doreen:

Later in 1918, Dudley’s half-brother, Jack (John Ellesmere Westgarth) died of complications of rheumatic fever and malaria. It is all documented on the Lucy
Florence blog, or on the Australian Archives website. Dudley, George and Ronald now had all responsibility for their mother, who was living in Double Bay. A
further tragedy soon after was the death of Doreen in 1920 from TB.

Poppy and Gwendoline:

Poppy who had a daughter, Roslyn Collins, had left her marriage and was staying with Lucy Florence in Manning Road, Double Bay. Gwendoline had never married.
Poppy would in the future marry Gerald Kemmis, a divorcee with two daughters.

Claude:

Kathleen’s second brother, Claude, was in the 12th Light Horse with the two Westgarths! He went to Gallipoli where he was deafened for life by the big guns.
Despite this, he continued in the AIF for the duration of the war! According to his records, he spent some time in hospital with gastritis. He returned at the end of
1918.

Claude married Valerie Marshall on 4th May 1921 and lived his life in the Bathurst area, first at Trevellyan and then in town. Val had a gift shop called The Pink
Door. Claude’s name has been left off the Honour Roll at his old school, Newington. / must try to get it put on.
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(B
Claud Russell GLASSON

Regimental number 858
Place of birth Yass New South Wales
Other Names Claude Russell
Religion Methodist
Occupation Independent
Address Blayney, New South Wales
Marital status Single
Age at embarkation 24
Next of kin John Glasson, Blayney, New South Wales
Enlistment date 11 January 1915

Date of enlistment from Nominal Roll 14 January 1915

Rank on enlistment Private

Unit name 12th Light Horse Regiment, 2nd Reinforcement

AWM Embarkation Roll number 10/17/2

Embarkation details Unit embarked from Sydney, New South Wales, on board HMAT

A51 Chilka on 26 June 1915

Date of embarkation incorrectly listed on Embarkation Roll as 7

June 1915.
Rank from Nominal Roll Private
Unit from Nominal Roll 12th Light Horse Regiment
Fate Returned to Australia 18 December 1918
Other details Medals: 1914-15 Star, British War Medal, Victory Medal
https:/aif.adfa.edu.au/showPerson?pid=112266&printFormat=print 10

Pile and Westgarth made the Wills of Mervyn and Claude when they joined up. I am not sure about Donald, who was with the British forces.

Country Solicitors

It is interesting to compare the attitudes of Dudley and his brother George to their lives in regional towns. According to reports of George, he also was
always ready to help others, but did not have a public image, nor many duties away from home. Dudley seems to have been helpful but also extremely
ambitious for prominence in Blayney society.

Dudley makes a connection with Sydney solicitors:

Then, in 1919, after the war was over, Dudley made a connection with Sydney. He may have partly been prompted to do this because of his family troubles in
Sydney. John and Mervyn died the year before and Doreen was now terminally ill with TB. His mother had retired from the school and was helping Doreen. Also his
sister, Poppy, had left her husband.

He entered into a business partnership with Alexander Joseph McLachlan and Robert Reid McGrechan to create A.J.McLachlan, Westgarth and Company, a firm of
solicitors with a registered address at 115, Pitt Street, Sydney. My grandfather told me he was warned about A.J.McLachlan, but took no notice. This was his second
decision which was to have serious consequences for him

BIRTHS:

In 1919, Mollie Dudley Westgarth was born on 19/9/19, surely an auspicious date! Mollie had a sunny disposition as well as having a strong intelligence and she was
a support to her parents all their lives.

WESTGARTH - September 19, at St. Ronan’s private hospital, Manly, to Mr. and Mrs. Dudley Westgarth — a daughter.
DEATHS:
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John Glasson died the following year. He had seen Claude return and mourned his son Donald. He had provided handsomely for all the family. His youngest, Joyce,

was only 15, but his boys would have finished their schooling. Here is a short obituary from the Newingtonian:

MR. J. GLASSON,

An Old Newingtonian passed away a few months ago in the
person of Mr. John Glasson. He would be known to old boys
of the sixties, when he and his brothers, Robert and Russell
(both of whom are also dead) were at the school on the river.

Mr. Glasson lived at Blayney, and was interested in pastoral
pursuits. He was a man of quiet and retiring disposition, and
was very much respected in his private and business capacities.

Several of his sons went to the war, and one of them, Flight-
Lieutenant Donald Glasson, who will be remembered by a younger
generation of Newingtonians, was killed.

John Glasson died in August, 1920.

NEW SOUTH WALES REGISTRATION NUMBER
3516/1920

BIRTHS, DEATHS AND MARRIAGES REGISTRATION ACT 1995
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John was buried in the Methodist Cemetery, Blayney. He had been 67 years in New South Wales, but was a Cornishman.
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My father was 7 in 1920, so he may have remembered John Glasson. He definitely remembered his grandmother, Anne Margaret Glasson, who was called
Little Granny by the children and lived until 1942!

Birth of Donald Dudley Westgarth:

In 1921, Kathleen’s last child was born. He was given the name, Donald, in memory of her lost beloved brother. It was not going to be an auspicious name for the
baby.

WESTGARTH.- October 13, at Laramie, Blayney, to Mr. and Mrs. Dudley Westgarth — a son.

Kathleen must not have had time to go to hospital for this birth. Mollie had been born in hospital. The consequence of this home birth was that, according to Mollie,
her mother contracted septicaemia, a poisoning of the blood which is often fatal. Kathleen recovered, perhaps due to sulphur drugs, which were widely used before
the development of penicillin in 1943. Kathleen had no more children, which she probably thought was a silver lining to the cloud!

The Westgarths in 1921 had 5 children, three boys and two girls and Kathleen had to recover her health and strength. Here are some photographs of the children at
play at Laramie:

The two girls have home made dresses from the same material. Brian and Donald would be wearing hand-me-downs.
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Brian (Bunny) and Donald (Tonny) on the woodheap.
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1923 or 24. Aunt Mollie always said: ‘Dear John”. Here he has his arms round her.
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The same day. Having fun at the river.
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R -L: Brian, Mollie and Nancy in the garden. It is still a very big area, fenced into two sections.
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Compare their toys to those of modern children! No trampoline for example. And not much of a lawn! Note the ‘dunny’ (lavatory) in the background. At
night, the family used chamber pots under the bed.

A Child’s View of Santa, 1922.

I was given this letter from my father, aged 9, to Santa. You can see that children had different ambitions in those days: hardly any young people wear a watch now,
and Christmas gifts are a lot more expensive.
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Legal Problems

Neil Thornton’s notes tell us that Dudley and a prominent businessman, George Starr, were prosecuted for running a chocolate wheel at the hospital sports on
Anniversary Day (probably Australia Day?). The magistrate decided that the sports day was not a bazaar, so he fined Dudley and George Starr £1/8/- each.
Reference: The Wyalong Advocate, Tuesday, 17th April 1923

In 1924, Neil Thornton tells us, Dudley represented his brother-in-law, Claude, who was then president of the RSL, in a case against the Blayney Municipal Council
for a breach of the 1919 Returned Soldiers and Sailors Act. The case was dismissed.

Not long after this, on 25th January 1925, Dudley severed his business association with Pile and Westgarth and became a full partner in the firm of
A.J.McLachlan, Westgarth and Company. The decision was made to move to Sydney.

The light side of Dudley

My grandfather loved a little joke. He taught us to drink our soup out of the plate, much to the disgust of our conservative mother. He turned over his empty boiled
egg and offered it to the unsuspecting child. He had ‘toys’ such as a mechanical vault which opened its doors and revealed a hand which grabbed a proffered
sixpence. Another toy was a sailor with a bottle of whisky who could be wound up. He would then drink a glass whilst his eyes glowed with delight! He also loved to
make an occasion a bit special by writing a special ‘poem’ or making a menu full of sly jokes.

During the war, my sister, Lynne, stayed with our grandparents Yaryar and Char, probably because our mother had to travel to see our father. Char made Lynne a little
stove out of a wooden box and put some light switches on it for controls. He called Lynne ‘Mrs Dantripp’ and the name stuck as I remember my mother calling her
that. Our grandmother was a great cook and cooked for the soldiers right through the war, so Lynne must have ‘cooked’ alongside her. Kathleen was always gentle
and long suffering with us grandchildren.

Char, as we called him, grew up with four brothers and was an expert at snooker and chess. Chess appealed to his competitive nature and his type of intellect. Bunny

(Brian), the clever son, was also a devotee of chess, even carrying a chess set with him to war. When Char retired, he installed a full size billiard table in his home at
Leura and he taught my cousin, Scott, to play snooker and love chess.

1925

In 1925, Lucy Florence was suffering with tuberculosis, a terminal disease, which had already claimed her daughter, Doreen. Also, John was going to turn
12 in May. Living in Sydney would allow the children to attend high school as day boys and girls. Dudley found a large inexpensive house, ‘Bellsize’, at 25
Kent Road, Rose Bay, close to Cranbrook School for the boys and the family moved in. The same year, on 4th December, his mother died.
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The house is still there. It now belongs to the Indonesian Embassy!

Lucy Florence was buried with George Charles in Waverley Cemetery overlooking the sea. Her three remaining sons were joint executors of her will. (see the blog
about Lucy Florence and the children)

Family Relations: Coming to Sydney meant catching up with many relatives for Dudley, but for Kathleen it meant being much further away from her extensive
family. Her sister, Ruth, married Gordon Phillips and lived in Sydney, but her brothers went on the land, except Robert who became a Doctor in Bathurst. Joyce
eventually married Ronald Mackay, a stock and station agent at Coonabarrabran.

Three grandmothers for the Westgarths

Kathleen’s mother, Anne Glasson, was known to my father and his brothers and sisters as ‘Little Granny’. Lucy Florence got the title of ‘Gummum’, typical of the

kind of joke enjoyed by my grandfather. Probably the children also knew Granny Mansfield, but I did not hear my father speak of her. She was Lucy Florence’s
stepmother and outlived her stepdaughter by 8 years, passing away on 12th May 1930.
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A bit hard to read. She is buried in the Waverley cemetery. She had two living children at the time of her death. Her parents were James Mcdougall,
grazier and Elizabeth Bowden.

The Great Depression.

McLachlan, Westgarth and Co. was at first a successful business, but in 1929, the world went into an economic Depression — a situation which took years to rectify
and caused millions around the world to be out of work and children to starve.

The Great Depression started in the United States after a major fall in stock prices that began around September 4, 1929, and became worldwide news with the stock
market crash of October 29, 1929, (known as Black Tuesday). Between 1929 and 1932, worldwide gross domestic product (GDP) fell by an estimated 15%. By
comparison, worldwide GDP fell by less than 1% from 2008 to 2009 during the Great Recession.*! Some economies started to recover by the mid-1930s. However;

in many countries, the negative effects of the Great Depression lasted until the beginning of World War 151

The Great Depression had devastating effects in countries both rich and poor. Personal income, tax revenue, profits and prices dropped, while international trade

plunged by more than 50%. Unemployment in the U.S. rose to 25% and in some countries rose as high as 33 %16
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Business must have suffered for Dudley and his partner, but worse was to come. In 1936, just as the impact of the Depression was lessening, A.J.McLachlan
embezzled the funds and absconded to England. Dudley was left with a ruined business, full of debts and a family to provide for.

I found this rather ironical case that my grandfather defended in 1936:

The Daily Telegraph, 2nd June 1936, Page 17

In Bankruptcy.

Re Christian Sander, Ice cream and cheesemanufacturer, of Taree. Estate sequestrated December 19, 1933. Unsecured liabilities, £3161. The application
for a certificate was refused. Mr. R. D. Mayne for the Official Receiver; Mr. Dudley Westgarth for the bankrupt. His Honor said the examination was very

unsatisfactory Indeed. Bankrupt had committed breaches of the award, sent In false returns, avoided taxation, falsified his books, swindled his employees, had not
disclosed all his property, having transferred part of It to another State, and had torn up part of his books:

Before the ¢ Registrar In Bankruptcy, Mr.Keaney
1937

The next year, 1937, Dudley showed his mettle by forming his own business as Dudley Westgarth and Co. His partners were Arthur Kingsford Smith and my
father, John, who was admitted as a solicitor and made a Notary Public.

1 remember going to see Winifred Kingsford-Smith when I was about 4, in 1947. I am unclear as to the relationship of Arthur to the famous Sir Charles Kingsford
Smith, but there must be one. Winifred was the sister of Sir Charles, according to an online family tree.

Char told me how hard he had worked to pay back all the funds which had been stolen by his partner. This disaster made his name as a man of integrity, but at
what cost?

Cranbrook

Cranbrook School was established on 22 July 1918 in Bellevue Hill on the shores of Sydney Harbour. The School was founded at a time when the outcome of the
Great War was beginning to swing in_favour of the Allied forces and feelings of optimism were strong in people s vision of the future.

Cranbrook had been a private home with extensive grounds bordering the harbour, when it was purchased as a boys’ school. The school had a Council made up of
interested parents and Dudley became a member of Council after his sons attended the school. A company called Cranbrook Playing Fields Ltd. controlled the
extensive property for the school and received revenue from it. This company found itself owing money to its members when the Minister for Works allowed
Woollahra Council to take over some of the land. The Minister refused to pay 15,253 pounds which the Valuer-General decreed was a fair price. It was Dudley who
represented the Council in this matter. ‘The article does not relate what happened in the end! Here is the front page:
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Daily Telegraph (Sydmey, NSW : 1931 - 1954), Thursday 15 April 1937, page 1

MINISTER REFUSES TO
PAY JUDGMENT

Amazing Plight
For School

LOSES ITS RICH LANDS,
CANNOT RECOVER
£13,887 VERDICT

l“ R. SPOONER has refused to pay a
judgment for £13,887, given against him
as Minister for Works.
With other charges, the total involved is
£l b,...ﬂ
Claimanls are Cranbrook Playing Fields,
Lid., a company controlling cerlain lands belong-
ing to Cranbrook School, which the Department
of Works resumed two and a half’ years ago on
Behalt of Woollahra Counceil.
The Minister of Justice (Mr, L. O. Martin) has ex-
pressed astonishment at Mr, Spooner’s action.
e school has lost its lands and is unable to recover
ompensation becanse such judgments against the Crown
cuntol he excented

Must Wait For Its Mone '

f Py Winen e IroLeO I propes .y

vir Spooner has informed the e setool, was dissatisfied with
rompany that it will have to wall l tion, and in October Jast
seme time for its money. an »\f\mn.ugumn the M..m.t-
’ fer claimity compensation at a higher
The Dipartment of Works resumed gy

¢ land for the Woollahya Councll Mro Justiee Maxwell gave the
w Grtoper, 1934, when the Valuer- 0000 higemeft vor £13,883/9/

Genirul valued the property at £6000. 700 e Minister for Works.
Wiolahre Councll paid £6250 into Explaiming bow difficulties st once

the department, plus £1000 Lo cover .., .1, dopy debenture-holders satis-
erntLELEUCIes, Seetynt of thewr claims, Mr. Dudiey
vangtook Playing Fields, Ltd., & we ot 4 member of the Councii of
copuay which cantrolled the properiV v ook Schiool, lust night said that
for the school, was dissatisfied WiIth ;o ye190 4 month ago was he able to
National Library of Australia http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article247122298

Schooling:

The family must have arrived in Rose Bay at the beginning of 1925, because in February 11 year old John and 9 year old Brian began their studies at Cranbrook.
Probably Nancy, 10, would have started school at Ascham too. Cranbrook was an elite boys’ school in Rose Bay, established in 1918. Ascham was a much older
establishment and the girls would be studying where their mother studied before them. As the population of White Australians in 1925 was around six million, most
of whom would not be wealthy, their classes at Ascham and Cranbrook were not large. https:/en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Demography_of Australia

The Archives at Cranbrook School have provided the following information on the academic careers of John, Brian (Bunny) and Donald (Tonny).

John Dudley WESTGARTH [OC 1931]
Entry: 3 February, 1925 (I1IB)

Exit: 18 December, 1931 (VIA)

Class of 1931, Chelmsford House
Intermediate Certificate, 1929

Leaving Certificate , 1931

Sergeant., 1931

School details sourced from the Valete section of the school magazine, The Cranbrookian (May, 1932, p.37):
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John was an average student and enjoyed long distance running. He was a Sergeant in Cadets. Boys’ private schools in those days always had Military Cadets.
Perhaps the public schools did too.... As subjects of the British Empire, the boys were taught early about drilling and fighting for the King or Queen.

After he left school, John became an articled clerk at Dudley Westgarth and Co, following the old tradition of studying Law through the Solicitor’s Admission Board
(1932-1936. He became a partner in the newly-formed Dudley Westgarth and Co. in 1937.

This beautiful menu for the celebration dinner is typical of Char’s little jokes.
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Bon Appettit
Mesdames et Messicurs

-—M6nll

In the Matter of the Fisheries Act
Huitres Cocktail

In the Water ce
Consomme au Fumet de Celery
the oard

Poulet Saute Maryland
Croquette de Mais
Bananas Sautee y ‘

Chouxfleur Polonaise : 4 H ”\

In the District Court Qf the Wg§_§ rn

= ——District- —_—
lenat thrt

Asperges Frappe - Sauce Vinaigrette)

In the Matrimonial Csuses Court A. O. Romano, Proprietor.

<<<<<< /g»(é;}?"i t
Coupe Passion WY )
Y W LA
Before_ the Full Bench o € /S'J el
/M\)J
Cafe WN

This gorgeous thirties menu was given to my by Rodney Seaborn, who had attended the celebration for my father’s admission as a solicitor and had kept
it for about 70 years!

John married Eleanor Barbara Cairnes Boydell on November 30 1938.

Brian Dudley WESTGARTH [OC 1932]
Entry: 3 February, 1925 (I)

Exit: 16 December, 1932 (VIA)

Class of 1932, Chelmsford House
Intermediate Certificate, 1930

Leaving Certificate, 1932

Sergeant., 1932

School details sourced from the Valete section of the school magazine, The Cranbrookian (May, 1933, p.42):
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Brian Dudley Westgarth, as a young man.

Brian, who was only 15 when he sat the Leaving, was a gifted student, receiving a very good pass in seven subjects. He inherited the ability for the Law which his
father and grandfather had before him. Brian completed his Law studies at Sydney University and was a Judge’s Associate, a Barrister and and Accountant when the
Second World War broke out.

Donald Dudley WESTGARTH [OC 1939]
Preferred name “Tonny”

Entry: 4 February, 1930 (I)

Exit: 12 December, 1939 (VI)

Class of 1939, Chelmsford House
Intermediate Certificate, 1937

Leaving Certificate, 1939

e 1S'XI (Cricket), 1939

o ISLXV (Rugby), 1937 & 1939
e Corporal, 1938-39

School details sourced from the Valete section of the school magazine, The Cranbrookian (May, 1940, p.44):

file:///C:/Users/Research/Desktop/My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. ... 65/135



3/25/25, 2:42 PM My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. | westgarth and gla...

=SSR W e

A very charming young man!

Donald was the sportsman of the three, but did not make the rank of sergeant in the Cadets. He had only finished school when the war broke out, but became a clerk
in Dudley Westgarth and Co. the next year.

Here are the results of the Leaving Certificate for the 3 boys:

John 1931, a class of sixteen boys. (18 years old)

English B, Latin L, Maths I B, Maths 11 B, Ancient History B. An average pass.

Brian 1932, a class of fifteen boys. (15 years old)

English A, History B, Latin B, French B, Chemistry B, Maths 1 A, Maths 11 A. In spite of being only fifteen years old, Brian had an excellent pass in seven subjects!
Donald, 1939, class of 23 boys of whom 13 matriculated for university. (18 years old)

English B, Latin L, French B, Maths 1 B. Only four subjects and one is ‘L’.

Brian and Donald are remembered on the memorial to the Second World War which is in the chapel at Cranbrook. That is a story I will tell later.......
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A lot of Cranbrook bys ......

Ascham School.

You will know from the history of Lucy Kathleen that she attended Ascham and made good friendships there. So Nancy and Mollie also attended Ascham School,
which is at Edgecliff. It is only a short tram ride from Rose Bay, through Double Bay and up the hill to Edgecliff. In those days, trams ran from the city to Watsons
Bay, along New South Head Road and then on to Old South Head Road, past the lighthouse and down to Watsons Bay.
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Nancy on the left and Mollie on the right in this sweet portrait about 1936.
Nancy:
Nancy attended Ascham from 1925 aged 10, starting in Year 3. She left in qt the end of 1932 when she completed Year 10, so she did not sit the Leaving Certificate,
which was in Year 11. Although she left at the end of 1932, she is part of the class of 1933, because her more academic contemporaries stayed on for the final year
and left at the end of 1933.

Unfortunately I have no photos of Nancy at school. Nancy excelled at sport and sewing, but was not academic. She was in the 1931 Tildesley Shield team and in
1932 she was awarded a tennis prize.
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PRIZE LIST, 1932.

FORM PRIZES.
1. A. Evans, B. Storey, A. Willcocks, B. Crouch.
IIB. M. Watt, J. Robertson, A. Scott, B. Mansfield, J. Cohen.
Ila. G. Scott Stevenson, J. Perty, P. Harvey Sutton.
IlIs. J. Storey. H. Bowman, A. Thomson. )
IIla. L. Curtis, L. Brown Craig, H. Freeman, J. Sim, R. Close.

IV. P. Curtis, J. Rofe, P. Molesworth. G. Blair, B. Russell Glasson,
B. Winn, R. Julius, N. Williams, D. Kett.
Vc. K. Lundie, P. Goldsmid, J. Bernard; M. Bainton.
VB. M. Bell. .
VBL. M. Weston, L. Cohen, R. Curtis, K. Solomon.

FORM SIGHT READING COMPETITIONS— Form VH.

NEEDLEWORK.
MippLE ScHooL—G. Liamrock, E. Rabett. SpreciaL— M. Evans.
UPPER ScHooL —B Sidaway, J. Boynton, W. Giles. SpeciaL—M.
Guncher, [. Hepworth.
KnIiTTING—1. H. Aspinall; 2. R. Melvaine.

PHYSICAL CULTURE.

Bapoes—B. Anderson, P, Curtis, L. Hagon, K. Lundie, J. Brandon,
J. Melvaine, M. Price, N. Ryrie.

BOARDERS' DANCING.
-Jun1OR—N. Goodman, M. Doyle. SEN1IOR— M. Anderson, B. Balls.

FORM Va.
English J. Molesworth Geography J. Smyth
History J. Molesworth French M. Terrey
Mathematics J. Farnsworth German G. Metcalfe
Botany J. Farnsworth Latin G. Metcalfe

Art (presented by Miss P. Brodziak): J. Smyth.

FORM VliB.
English N. Ryrie History D. Goldsmid
French A. Weigall Botany D. Goldsmid

Latin and Mathematics— D. Goldsmid
Geography (presented by Miss J. McLachlan) : E. Blair
Art (presented by Mrs. Lewis Sharp) : N. Webb.

otlcw 0. SORMNIA. Beonpelaal L R, Hattle,
Modern Histofy 4 M. L:‘I{%M Botany o i?.%aunders

Ancient History and Greek : M. Lundie

TENNIS (presented by Mrs. T. H. Windeyer).
DouBLEs: N. Webb, N. Westgarth.
ImPROVEMENT : K. Body.

MARY WADDELL'S CUP FOR BEST SINGLES PLAYER:
’ C. Mack.

Mgrs. SIMPSON’'S TENNIS PRIZE: C. Mack.

After Nancy left school, she did a Secretarial course and worked as a Secretary in Sydney city. Nancy told her daughter that at one workplace she was sackesi for
wanting to open the window! Those were the days when women had a place! Nancy must have been a compentent secretary because she worked for about nine years
before her marriage, but she would have always been controversial. From 1940, there must have been plenty of jobs as young men volunteered for the forces and
women took their place.

Nancy married Raymond Alexander (Pat) Woodhill on May 30th 1942, probably whilst he was on leave. Pat was married in his uniform. They are a handsome
couple!
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SMH Wednesday 24™ June 1942 Page 14

MARRIAGES;:

WOODHILL-WESTGARTH —

May 30, at St. Mark’s, Darling Point, Nancy Ruth, elder

daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Dudley Westgarth of Darling Point to Raymond Alexander (Pat),

son of Mr. and Mrs. P. Woodhill, of Austinmer.

Mollie:

Mollie attended Ascham from 1927, when she was 7 years old, until she completed the Leaving Certificate in1936. She is part of the graduating class of 1936.

1936 was the 50th year since the establishment of a girls school which was originally called ‘Miss Wallis’ School’ after the founder, Miss Marie Wallis. She
renamed the school ‘Ascham’ in 1890.

The school was named after Sir Roger Ascham who was known for his enlightened educational philosophy and was tutor to Queen Elizabeth 1 of England. The coat
of arms and motto of Roger Ascham were adopted as the school badge . You can see the badge in the middle banner of the five held up by students. The motto is Vi
et Animo’, which is roughly ‘life and spirit’.

Below is a photograph of all the students participating in a pageant to celebrate the school Jubilee. There was also a service of thanksgiving. Mollie is in the back
row, Sth from the left, with a mob cap and smock. The uniforms of the older girls are the same as those worn by Kathleen, but the uniforms of the younger girls
are exactly the same as I wore at Ascham from 1949-1960!
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Mollie in the back row under Mount Adelaide 1898. A small, happy school of lucky students during the Depression.

Mollie was more academic than her sister and went on to Sydney University to study Law. She told me that she was so excited and overwhelmed with new freedoms,
ideas and lifestyles that she failed all her subjects in her first year at university! She did complete her Bachelor of Arts in 1940 and she was admitted to study law
through the Solicitors” Admission Board and was admitted as a solicitor in 1945, which achievement coincided with the tragic deaths of her brothers. She became

the fourth Ascham graduate in law,

Ascham’s First Graduates by Miriama Simmons, Archivist

My current research project is to identify the first university graduates in each profession. At the time of Ascham’s Jubilee in 1936, thirty-four former students had
graduated — a remarkable feat in an era when most girls were discouraged from academic study.
LAW:

Olivia Fiaschi [McCarthy] Ascham: 1926-1936
Graduated: Syd .Uni., LL.B 1942

Valma Step [Cahill] Ascham: 1930 — 1941
Graduated: Syd. Uni., LL.B 1946

Melia O’Donnell [Nicholson]Ascham: 1931 — 1941
Graduated: Syd. Uni., LL.B 1946

Mollie Westgarth [Sibiriakoff]
Ascham: 1927 — 1936 Graduated: BA 1940; became an articled clerk in Dudley’s office and was admitted as a solicitor in 1945:

Daily Telegraph (Sydney, NSW : 1931 - 1954), Saturday 17 November 1945

WOMAN SOLICITOR To
- _JOIN FATHER'S FIRM

Miss Mollie J
| daughter of Mr. ogﬁdg? d\%%st-“;ersttt% ax‘;,t.;ls
| admitted yesterday ag a soliclgt.or of the
. Stlsz‘zﬁ-ememCourt.
e will join her father’s fir -
ley Westgarth and Co. souscitzogf o
Her brother John 1s also a member
of the firm, which he joined in 1937
Another brother, Brian, was killed on
g:(t)it%eer :ugvlcerd last Juliv. A third
» Donald, was ki o
serﬁl;gse g/? lﬁpm 25 lasg Hed on satys
ollie Joan Dudley W
is the fifth generati T o
< B law.g ration of the family to

National Library of Australia http://nla.gov.au/nla.news—article24.

A sad little article which tells of the loss of talent which the war had caused. The five generations referred to are George Allen, his son Sir George Wigram Allen, his
nephew by marriage George Charles Westgarth, his sons George and Dudley Westgarth and now John and Mollie. Although Mollie was a qualified solicitor, she
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admitted that she found it hard to work in an industry which, at that time, was a man's world.

Mollie looking happy, but her brothers had died only months before. Left to right: Dad, Mander-Jones, Char, Mollie, David Griffin.
A famous legal connection and family scandal.

Ronald, Char’s older brother, had a son, Nigel and two daughters, Judith and Sheila. Judith met John Wentworth Shand at the Killara Tennis Club and as a result he
left his wife and four children for her. He divorced his wife in November 1939 and married Judith, aged 28, in December. They had two children.

The photo below shows his celebration party, in January 1943, when he became a King’s Counsel. He was the top barrister of his time, but died in 1959 of cancer.
Only a cottage in Pymble remained for his widow, who married again and lived into her 90s.
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Jack Shand is making a speech. Kathleen, Dudley, Poppy? and Pat Woodhill are sitting at the table. Judith may be cut off on the left of the photo. I think
Aunt Darcy, Ronald’s wife and Jack’s mother-in-law, is standing on Jack’s left.

Moll goes to London

Soon after her admission, Mollie received a bequest in the will of Ina Campbell, which enabled her to make the sea voyage to London and work there, returning in
August 1950. Before she left in 1948, she was one of three bridesmaids to her dear friend Dabee Evans who, two years or more after the death of Tonny, married Tim
Bettington, a grazier from Merriwa, Hunter Valley, New South Wales. This must have been a happy ending to the tragedy of Dabee’s first love.

Three bridesmaids. Mollie on the left of photo. Lovely 1940s gowns.
Bringelong:

Some time during the Depression, before his partner, McLachlan, embezzled the funds, Dudley must have invested in a cottage in the Blue Mountains at Wentworth
Falls. All the children were at Cranbrook or Ascham by 1930, so the cottage would have made an economical and popular holiday venue for family and friends in
the 30s. Remember that both Dudley and Kathleen came from large families and were used to having lots of people around.

The Blue Mountains were very popular for holidays between the Wars. Trains ran up the mountains, stopping at all stations to Katoomba, where the Carrington
Hotel was enormous fun. Around Wentworth Falls and Katoomba were waterfalls, rock formations and lots of wonderful places to walk to. At Katoomba there were
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the famous rocks called the Three Sisters and the Scenic Railway made out of an old coal railway line. Further on, there was the Hydro Majestic, a magnificent hotel
and spa, at Medlow Bath. Beyond the Hydro was the lovely Megalong Valley

Char, in his usual style, called the cottage ‘Bringelong’ which is presumably a corruption of ‘bring along’ — and that is what the children did, bringing friends to
Bringelong for a mountain holiday. The cottage was built of weatherboards and had an open fireplace. Adjacent to it was an outbuilding called The Sleepout where
there were lots of bunks. At the back of the house, the bush sloped down to a clear running stream. Lovely!

Here are Mollie and Char coming back with a bucket of yabbies. Looks like the forties era. Perhaps 1942.

Our parents courted at Bringelong, having met at a Sydney dance party doing the Jolly Miller. In 1935 my father, John, was 22 and my mother, Barbara, 21.

My elder sister, Lynne, remembers going there during the war, catching the train crowded with uniformed men. During her stay, many ‘boys’ came and went, staying
in the Sleepout, probably friends of Bunny and Tonny.

I remember going to Bringelong when I was four or just five, probably in 1948. Auntie Mollie took me down to the creek and we caught yabbies with a piece of

string and meat. Afterwards I remember making toast on the open fire. Both activities were firsts for me and I have a clear memory of them. This photo is the
evidence!
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Lynne and I are on Char’s knee and there is a little girl beside us, the child of a friend or relation?
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Mollie and Kathleen at Bringelong in a loving moment.

I never went again, because I believe the house burned down in one of the terrible bushfires which in the past raced through the mountains. My sister, Lynne,
confirmed that Bringelong was burned down. Bad luck for the grandchildren!

Here are some articles from the period which explain the universal fear of fire and need to organise against it:
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1938 Marriage of John and Barbara

In 1938, John had an established income and was 25 years old. Barbara (Eleanor Barbara Cairnes Boydell) was 24 and came from a wealthy family. Her father,
Sydney Grant Boydell, was Clerk of the Legislative Assembly of New South Wales, youngest son of Bishop Broughton’s daughter, Mary Phoebe and William Barker

The Boydells had a property, Allynbrook, and church, St Mary on Allyn, at Gresford, New South Wales. The property on the Allyn River is now called ‘Boydells’ and
is a vineyard. You can also stay there. https:/boydells.com.au/stay-with-us/

Her mother was Katharine Gill, the daughter of George Gill and Anna Maria Dinsmuir Cairnes. (My middle name is Cairnes. I am told it is a good Scottish
name).The Gills (McGills) were three Protestant Irish immigrants from Derry, the capital of County Tyrone in Northern Ireland. They became sheep graziers in New
South Wales and the eldest, John Gill was a member of Parliament for a few years. George Gill had a sheep station called Emu Creek, at Walcha.
https://www.geni.com/people/George-Gill-Sr/60000000096 19222277

The Wikipedia entry for Walcha gives the history at: https:/en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Walcha, New_South Wales.
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It states: “Hamilton Collins Sempill was the first settler in the New England area when he took up the ‘Wolka run in 1832, establishing slab huts where ‘Langford’
now stands. Other early runs around the district were Bergen-op-Zoom (1834), Ohio (1836), Europambela (c.1836), Surveyor's Creek (1836), Emu Creek (c.1837),
Ingalba (1837), Orandumbie (1837), Tiara (1837) and Winterbourne (1837). “ This property must have been settled by someone else and bought by George R
Gill. The date is too early.

Wedding Day:

The marriage of John and Barbara was celebrated at the Cranbrook Chapel and the reception at Elizabeth Bay House on November 30th. They honeymooned in
Tasmania, which must have been breathtakingly beautiful in those days.

Er-lgagement photo of John
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Engagement photo of Eleanor Barbara Cairnes Boydell

The article that accompanies this photo talks about the beautiful clothes of the bride and bride’s mother. The Boydell family had the money to spend on clothes and

loved clothes. In contrast, Kathleen had a sewing woman, Mrs Clinch, an English widow, who came regularly to make clothes for the family. Kathleen would have
been wearing a home made dress.
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The article is so old and hard to read! The same week as this wedding, Barbara Westgarth, daughter of Dudley’s brother, George, became Mrs Cohen, but
the name * Barbara Westgarth ‘ continued!

Wartime:

On September 3rd, 1939, Britain declared war on Germany because the Nazis led by Hitler had begun their campaign of aggression by invading Poland. Hitler soon
followed this conquest by moving west across France, the Netherlands and Belgium. Hitler and his allies became known as ‘the Axis powers’ and Britain and her
allies were ‘the Allies’.

For Kathleen and Dudley the outbreak of war in Europe must have been one of the worst moments of their lives, if not the very worst. They had three sons all of
fighting age. They had each lost their favourite brother in the last war and seen the memorials go up, all over the country, to the thousands of others who had not
returned.

Australian Casualties

According to the First World War page on the Australian War Memorial website, from a population of fewer than five million, 416,809 men enlisted, of which
over 60,000 were killed and 156,000 wounded, gassed, or taken prisoner. The latest figure for those killed is given as 62,000, Nov 8, 2019

Australia follows Britain in declaring war on Nazi Germany:

Great Britain declared war on Germany and her allies (the Axis) on September 3rd 1939. Australia declared war the same day, even though Australia was no longer
a colony, because we were part of the British Empire and George V1 was our King.

To Kathleen and Dudley’s distress, all three sons signed up for the forces by 1942.
By 1940 they had sold Bellsize and moved to 519 New South Head Road Rose Bay. By 1942 they were in ‘The Annery’ 3 Marathon Road, Darling Point.

My elder sister, Lynne, went to stay with them there during the time that John, her father, was in the Matilda Tank Battallion. That was when Dudley/Char made her
the stove. Char and Yaryar/Kathleen would remain at The Annery until the end of the war when the fate of their brave sons was clear.

Lynne told me she was Yaryar’s kitchen helper’. “She was always cooking or knitting socks on four needles. She made fruit cakes for ‘Food for Britain’ 24 hours a

day. I don’t know when she slept”, said Lynne. Kathleen would have been cooking and knitting socks since 1940 as she had done as a young wife during the First
World War. She was so small, but her heart was so big.
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A very sad photo. Lynne, in the background, would be 2 and a half when Tonny, in August 1942, went overseas to Scotland, having passed his pilot
training. Char and another person, are crying and Yaryar is preparing a parcel. Tonny was probably the photographer and his mother is saying farewell.

As well as all the other sadnesses of sons going to war, Yaryar’s mother died on 13th April, 1942. She must have moved to Rose Bay where Eric, her son lived at 17

Balfour Road, Rose Bay. She had arteriosclerosis and had been in the Thornbury Convalescent Home, Newcastle Street, Rose Bay. The location would have been
very good for the Westgarths to be able to visit and care for her. Aunt Ruth, her second daughter, also lived in Sydney.
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REGISTRY OF BIRTHS

I hereby certify that this is a true copy of particulars recorded in a
DEATHS AND MARRIAGES

Register in the State of New South Wales, in the Commoawealth of Australia

SYDNEY 26 November 2020

Registrar

Little Granny had a Church of England funeral and then was cremated at the Eastern Suburbs Crematorium. All her children were still alive.

Dudley and his sons all joined the Citizen Military Forces. Here is Dudley’s record in the National Archives:

WESTGARTH DUDLEY : Service Number — N225537 : Date of birth — 01 Jun 1887 : Place of birth — SYDNEY NSW : Place of enlistment: RANDWICK NSW :
Next of Kin: WESTGARTH LK

John, Enlisted 21st August 1942.

John’s CMF number was N84890. All recruits from New South Wales had an N before their number. Victorians had a V and so on. Those who joined the AIF had NX
before their number. You will see that on the service records below.

Perhaps the Fall of Singapore on January 31st 1942 prompted John to join the AIF and prompted his choice of a tank battallion. If the Japanese, who were now in
Singapore, reached Australia, tanks would be used to fight the enemy.

Here he is in his new uniform with mum and Lynne. Mum was expecting another baby but she had a miscarriage carrying buckets of water in the 1942 drought. It
was a boy.
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Another farewell picture....
Here is John’s record from the 3rd Australian Tank Battallion, Australian Tank Corps of the Australian Army.

The ip address for this certificate is: http://www.ww2roll.gov.au/script/veteran_certificate.asp? VeteranlD-221502
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World War 2 Nominal Roll — Certificate for john Dudley Westgarth.

He was lucky that tanks could not be used against the Japanese in the islands, so John was demobilised without having to fired a shot in 1944. You can see here he
was living in Killara with Eleanor Barbara Cairnes Westgarth (nee Boydell), his wife who hated the name of Eleanor!

At first they lived at 41 Powell Street, Killara, but when John was demobilized on 20/5/44 he returned to 5 Coronga Crescent, Killara. With my father in the tank
battallion, my mother moved around quite a bit, probably to get support for Lynne who was only 2.

I was born on 24th September 1943 and at that time mum lived with her mother, Katharine Boydell, in Edgecliff Road. I cried a lot and my grandmother hated it,
perhaps because she was so frail, saying “Stop that baby crying!” So I was given a dummy.

When we moved to Coronga Crescent in 1944, Mrs Boydell, my grandmother, went to live with Robert (Bob), her eldest son. She died soon after.

Dad called his Matilda tank ‘Barbara Lynne’ after his wife, Eleanor Barbara and daughter, Barbara Lynne, born 11/2/1940.

The Matilda 11 tank used in World War 2. You can see one at the war memorial in Canberra.

John’s enlistment form which is held in the National Archives:
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Lieutenant Westgarth was 29 in 1942.

Lucky for John and for all Australians, the Japanese did not reach our shores except in raids, so John was demobilised on 20th May 1944. At that time, the AIF was
fighting in New Guinea and tanks were of no use in that terrain.

Captain John

John had been in line for a promotion to the rank of Captain. The Australian National Archive holds the papers in Melbourne, as property of the Army. In 1948, John
was given the rank of Captain. (I seems to me to have been quite an unnecessary effort, as he did not fight. But of course he would have if the Japanese had arrived.)

Dudley enlisted in the Citizen Military Forces

On 1st April, 1942, with the Japanese coming closer, Dudley, aged 54, joined the CMF. Dudley liked a little joke, so perhaps he thought of himself as an April Fool
enlisting at the age of 54.

Of course he still had his legal practice to run, so his aim in joining up was to be available when the ‘chips were down’ I suppose. Anyway he was eventually
demobilised because he ‘did not attend parades’. I thought this comment was very military and very funny!
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It can be seen from this document that Dudley was in a previous militia from which he had resigned. He had also been to court for a parking
infringement! I remember my father, John, also a lawyer, going to court for running a red light. There was great consternation in our family that he might
be convicted, because lawyers were supposed to have spotless records in the matter of obeying the Law!

I have a lot of information about Dudley from his enlistment papers which are held here in Canberra. From the form below, I learned that Dudley had the family
gall bladder problem, that he had never been vaccinated in his life and that he had contracted the Spanish Flu, which killed millions round the world in 1919,
after World War 1 (and was the last pandemic before the Covid 19 which is sweeping the world as I write in 2020).

file:///C:/Users/Research/Desktop/My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. ... 91/135




3/25/25, 2:42 PM My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. | westgarth and gla...

The form also shows that at 54 he had perfect blood pressure and was a good weight for his height. You can see below that he would be a useful person to have in a
unit as he was handy at a lot of jobs, both manual and intellectual.
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Dudley was given a NX number for the Australian Imperial Forces (AIF) which was the Army, but he seems to have stayed in the CMF and was demobilised in 1944.
Here is the official form which has his CMF number 225537.

Service from 1/4/42 to 25/1/44. Reason for discharge is “inability to attend parades”, but also by 1944 the war was being fought in the Pacific and the
danger to Australia had passed.

Brian enlisted in the Army 10/4/1940

Brian, or Bunny, the clever one, who was said to ‘have the common touch’, had no girlfriend when he joined up. He was already a qualified barrister and
an accountant, although he was only 23 years old. In 1917 he had been born a British subject, as Australia was part of the British Empire, and this is surely the
reason for his quick response to the call to arms.

He had been in military units since his time in high schoo. He was in the CMF from 15/11/1939 to 30/4/1940 but I could not find his number. He went on from there
to the AIF, to fight the enemy in foreign lands. Here is an overview of his service, written up in 1983 by the Central Army Records Office in St Kilda, Victoria:
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Name: Brian Dudley Westgroth I

Rank: Captain

Numbers:  NX12380/NX204346
Service: Australian Citizen Military Forces from J
15 November 1939 to 30 April 1940 and from
14 July 1944 to 5 September 1944 2nd Australian
Imperial Force from 1 May 1940 to 6 November 1943
and from 6 September 194k to 5 July 1945.

/Served

Served in Australia (1st Period) with the following units:
2/5th Field Artillery Regiment.
Land Headquarters.

Served overseas (1et Period) in the Middle East and New
Guinea with the 2/5th Field Artillery Regiment.

Served in Australia (2nd Period) with the following units:
Skth Australian Squadron Air Liaison Section.
1st Australian Air Liaison Group.

Served overseas (2nd Peried) in New Guinea, Morotai and
Borneo with the 1st Australiaa Air Liaison Group.

Medals issued: 1939/45 Star
Africa Star
Pacific Star
Defence Medal
War Medal
Australia Service Medal

2. This information is released pursuant to Australian
Military Regulation 770.

/) @z’l v
(7.6./Baax)
for Commanding Officer

|

e I BU T TP e VT

)

Here is Brian’s enlistment form for 10/4/1940. He already had achieved a Law Degree with Honours and had studied Accountancy. At just 23 he was
practising as a Barrister when war broke out on September 3rd 1939.
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All members of the Forces had to take the Oath of Allegiance to King George V!.

After his service in the 2/5th Australian Field Artillery Regiment, in the Middle East and then New Guinea, He embarked for Australia on 7th February 1942 and
debarked on 18th May. He then worked at headquarters in Melbourne. in 1943 with the Japanese approaching through the islands, Brian applied to join the RAAF
and become a pilot:
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After Brian took some intelligence tests, the RAAF agreed to take him.
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PILOT
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No. s INITIAL TRAINING SCHOOL. _
2 /12/s3 Y-

ARRIVED
POSTED TO — Nle 10 BP.P.8, (67T 28/4/44,
Zarrinfer

Agu__m—; Previous Occupation ..
- hrs. P &9 hrs.

Previous Flying: Dual e 4 hrs.  Solo. g
S yrs 7 aonthe 4,I.F, 2/6 Aust, Fld logte (.gg

Previous Service Experience
Educational Standard.
Age leaving School 3 .. ¥.2,7, Next of Kin ' 527G 2K 7 & e
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Drill—Ave age Signature
Below Average 3 . (Education Officer.)
AVIATION APTITUDE TESTS
|
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Height.
et
8t. 9083

Full Medical Category. &1B ATR Signature
i 1 T RGLBLIOEF BT, -

file:///C:/Users/Research/Desktop/My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. ...

98/135



3/25/25, 2:42 PM My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. | westgarth and gla...

- ™
E Abo: Bel 1 N
DISTINCTIVE QUALITIES h:o:ﬁ 3 on';e Average | ] ow Pu? o8 ,"!‘
1. Persistence Sy i e
(Does he keep on trying or is he easily disheartened 1) t A it q
/ )
2. Sense of Responsibil - .
(Has he co:snan u:,n or is he over-confident *) X .
P bt sy pbrmson o :
. a P under
[gdiﬁoi; o';puumn 1) ‘
o
. (Has he taken the lead in any activities ? Would he make &
go‘a '.ptlin of aircraft 1) X
5. Methou
(Dogs he work systematically to a plan ?) b4 5
6. ratibn ~ ©
{Does he act decisively for reasons or on impulse 1)
X >
7. Enterprise - -
(Does he want to try things on bis own ?) | X
8. Dash
(Is he quick and decisive in action ?) ‘ ‘
u. Distribution of Attention ~ -~ i X
(Does he find iv difficult to do more than one thing at & time ?) k
10, self-Control L
(Does he get flustered ?)
General Remar sxcell s 11k
3 years active servicein Middle Bast, rank of Copfedn. |
13 APR 1944 Signatur____Wed s TAYLOR F/Lt.
Date. 0.C. b3 Squadron.
Category. .
Trainee’s Preference_ EeNsBe Selected Category.  PolleBelle—
13 APR 1644 Signature_Ss T MNINTER IRVING s/L
Date_— 1944 : President C.S.B.
Date - - Signat S ) Y WA X
Note.— Commanding No. 6 LTS.
This report need not be shown to the pupil unless it contains a recommendatighs to cease instruction,
For full instructi garding compilation and distribution of this form, see A.B.O."
C‘ S} SL9088  A. H. Prrrrss, Acivg Govr. Prxran. 3
2E A : ./’%@

Glowing comments!

Unfortunately, although he had so many qualities, he did not have the athleticism needed and failed his pilot’s traininig:
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At this stage, he was recommended by all to go back to civilian life. He had given such good service and the war in Europe was already won. Also, he had so much to
give in his profession. But Bunny refused to stop the fight against the Japanese and applied to re-enlist in the Army
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3/25/25, 2:42 PM

wa

FROM: INO :-‘é.. ‘l.o . R&Xlk i;;.".. Name l.....il’.‘l .a . ‘g.. -
. LY {>o
ot ’ o) =
« TO Pr esident Ca l:ex.ory Selectiou BOEId, o 2 Per sonnel Depot
p ’

BRADFIET,
DATE: [7,%‘“*1f AR

REF : ®scesenna

DISCHARGE FROM R.AA.F, TO RETURN TO ARMY,

1. Hc'hlng not reached bhe quuiled SbEndaId for Jlizore"
I desize to be discharged from bhe R. ! AT 8 8 o

.\ .y 0 & to Tre enlisb
in bhe Azﬂw, in Whj-Ch Ser Vice I W&S, betore enlistmenb in the
RuA.A.F. Aircrew, for the fOllOWing reasong; -

_/(Qt‘s%_ M-%'-Z@; J:/.-_q.v_ L ot L

4( m--d*d‘z@.'sui_mw 5 e

.- ¢ 6l hogr Ho B
b ey 0 _./4«4./@Mfa&eué¢.c(___

gaé'n.&u: s alcdinc by b o 7 '
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~- A s Jc b L S

ME Stae 44%; B 22
B0l T e A
=t SR S éc:‘t‘?@_j'_"u"_’i:‘:'_ - ?’;-’?ﬂ(l;

- e e G
L0 T YR A,

o - SRR S e e
e oy

Brian’s application was of course accepted on 6th September 1944.
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E

AUSTRALIAN MILITARY FORCE® A.A. Form A.200,

(Revized April, 1041,)
ATTESTATION FORM.

FOR SPECIAL FORCES RAISED FOR SERVICE IN AUSTRALIA OR ABROAD.

Army No NX /O 43 LE

it ODMY Nam_M%_——______

Si o
(BLOCK CAPITALS) .

vnit — 2[5 Aaak L elol /éfw*-i
Enlisted for service at. BADDRINGTON (Place)

NS W (State) b_S<p (P44 (Date
A. Questions to be put to persons called out or g themselves fs I y enli. %

g WESTGART #
1. What is your name ? .. . . . . { (BLOCK ALS,
Other namis e

. Where were you born ? . . . s . ta'the o o VS -
- Are you a naturl born or  patunlised Bricsh subject? 1€} 5. ,'ma Gonan

. What is your age and date of birth ? D ’ Jz (907
. What is your trade or occupation? .. &, 4 —
. Are you married, single or widower? .. 6. Sl .. ST

{ 2, In or near the town —

the latter, papers are to be prodt

,.{ € L

7. Give details of previous Military Service ..
708 W“""'
8. If now serving, give particulars -

9, Who is your actual next of kin? (Order of
wife, eldest son, cldest daughter, mm. mh«,
brother, eldest sister, eldest half-brother,

MILITARY SERVICE oo

NobidSh7  waok . HCIT__ v KARE

No.. Unit — oo
Name - .

ol

2%

“+ " AMEY g -l u..h_z,ﬁ;&éﬁ_ﬁ,ﬂ

‘. /,,a:“

10,

11,

‘What is your permanent address? .. . -
What is your religious denomination ? (Anlwuopmnll) 11. (- n <g
. Have you ever been convicted by a civil court? .. .. 12, i

i i G
7 o
i anemu{ot:hefoﬂawluﬂduudondflmhﬁm? 3. Leaving -
If 50, whic! 4. Leaving Honours
5. Technical
6. University ~, )
7. Other Dipl

!_

limits of the Commonwealth.

3.
3, __M_&%.F e——do solemnly declare that the above answers made
by me to the above questions are true that I willing to serve in the Ausmlmn Military Forces within or beyond the

Wi

d by

+ The person will be warned that should he give false answers to any of these questions he will be liable to heavy penalties under the Defence

(Signature of Attesting or Witnessing Officer.) -l (Signature.) ~

B.

I certify the above-named person to be fit for Class Ll SN

T
//,//"./\,/Lérw\ b7 - ML (Signature.)

MEDICAL EXAMINATION.
Téynrily unfit.

Sovereign Lord, the ng, in the Mnhrﬂl“oms of!ﬂ“ h of A lia until the ion of the present time of
war andg ths thereafter

encmics and cause Hu Majesty’s peace to be kept and maintained, and that I will in all matters appertaining to my service
faithfully discharge my duty according to law.

Subscribed at PADDINGION in_the State of IN . VY
this.__.___M___._____dny of. 19.8£<L

1P«mwhob;m(ouk=muxh‘mmahmaﬂmnonmm‘hmmm

|~ S ———

TH OF BNLISTMENTt
4:&% M swear that I will well and truly serve our

or until sooner lawfully discharged, dmmssed or removed, and that T will resist His Majesty’s

So ﬁtlp Me God
Signature of Person Enlisted.

Before me—
Signature of Attesting Officer.

Third
will be amended accordingly and initialed by the Attesting Officer.
Bt 1582 A 1, Pevrivex, Acrise Gove. Pusves.

Owing to the kinds of courses attended and his natural sense of dury, Bunny was sent to Air Observation units. Firstly, he was with the 54th Australian Squadron Air
Liaison Section and then moved to the 1st Australian Air Liaison Group.

As an Air Observer, Bunny’s job was as part of a bomber crew, reporting information to headquarters whilst flying over enemy territory. He also had to direct the

gunner.

On 5th July 1945. on a mission in a Liberator bomber over Balikpapan, southern Borneo, where the Japanese had bases, Bunny and all the crew were killed. Here is a
report issued the same day:
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coPRY

. T0 « 3 RAAF HQ (R) 1 TAF NWA HQ 82 WING DARWIN,
‘. .FROM: 82 WING MOROTAI.

T 46 5 JUL,

S8ECRET AFO 10/D/1 ATTENTION AIRCRAFT STATUS AND TECHNICAL SALVAGE
(.) LIBERATOR A72-196 TWIN WASP PORT OUTER 454926 PORT INNER 455552
STARBOARD INNER L5492 STARBOARD OUTER 454856 SHOT DOWN IN FLAMES
IN BALIKPAPAN AREA TWO MILES NORTH SEPINGGAN AIRSTRIP (.) AIRCRAFT
APPARENTLY COMPLETELY DESTROYED INTERIM REPORT WILL FOLLOW,

00o

EXTRACT FROM 82 WING DETACHMENT SIGNAL A6l4, STH JUL L5,
ONE BPS80O FIRST TAF RAAF CASUALTY SECTION

(.,) NX 204346 CAPTAIN. WESTGARTH B.D. SUPPORT AIR OBBERVER ONE
AUST AIR LIAISON HEADQUARTERS A.I.F.lMISSING BELIEVED KILLED PERSONAL
PARTICULARS NOT KNOWN — REQUEST YOU TAKE NECESSARY ACTION (.) HIT
BY LIGHT ENEMY ANTI-AIRCRAFT FIRE NUMBER 3 ENGINE CAUGHT FIRE AIK-
CRAFT EXFLODED IN MID AIR NO PERSONNEL BAILED OUT A.I.F. PATROL
INVESTIGATING (I) AIR SUPPORT OBOE TWO (,) COURT OF INQUIRY NOT
BEING HELD (,) SUBMISSION OF FORM E/E 24 NOT NECESSARY. COCNFIRMA-
TORY MEMORANDA WILL BE FORWARDED ON COMPLETION, (.). ACK

file:///C:/Users/Research/Desktop/My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974... 103/135



3/25/25, 2:42 PM My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. | westgarth and gla...

This photo is in the War Memorial. It has the following Description:
An informal portrait of Captain B D Westgarth, 4 Command Army Liaison Section GP 813 RAAF at the radio set in an Avro Anson Aircraft. Captain
Westgarth was killed in action during operations over Balikpapan (Borneo) on 5th July 1945.
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el
”r‘q//yv-’

T |=‘ EPHONES—
! ‘.

o/sss/  Australian Military Forc

Plaase quote this Number when replying.

1

( Address 2 pdv 2 Ech
Date

o ¥ 1 Dec 45 . O

21036 [ o ®
2nd Echelon AMF N
y to @ \ ~ \
HQ A\ut War Graves Gp, Oentral Pacifie. - \

NX204346 Oapt B D WESTGARTH - 54 SQN A.L SECTION
MISSING BELIEVED KILLED-5 Jul 45

The abovenamed officer was posted missing believed killed
5 Jul 45 BALIKPAPAN area when the plane in which he was actling as

Support Air Observer was hit by AA fire and observed to explode in
mid-air,

Enclosed herewlth is a Burial Return for an unidentified
Auotra.uan, the remains possibly being those of the abovenamed officer,

(a) It is possible that identity can be established by the
putol found with the remains and to this end it will be appreciated
if this office be advised whether AAF 204 records pistol No 900458 on
issue to Capt WESTGARTH.

(b) Relevant AAF F204 was forwarded to HQ AMF (02E} vide thies
office memo 8099 dated 26 Jul 45.

',".i__l\». ECH " /' Yoty
A //1‘“’ = .1t 061
b Enel : s ornoo(»r/o 2 Adv [2 7Ech (AIF)

L
A

The gruesome business of identifying remains.

Brian’s body was identified and buried. This letter expresses how much he gave and could have given if he lived:

file:///C:/Users/Research/Desktop/My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974... 105/135



3/25/25, 2:42 PM My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. | westgarth and gla...
1

14 fug 4s,

Deur Mp, Westgarth,
By now 1 ‘

o 7ou' 711l havs regeiyad the sad new that your
éen posted "Missing Belfaved Kiliagw,

I felt Jou would
% like to know how
mu
3 : eh everyone thought of
. Officers anpa a2n liked and raspectad himg hig
cheerful i - :
Ness apd unselfish attitude towards any task
‘ : 12
out, made “r&ing with him a vleasure, -
Zrobab t "
i Ly he best egga_qple_of this was hig 1l=st job
Ormation reguired was fital to oup sveons. gy anu.'
aireraft fip . ol
: . -F'® %33 hesvy and h?d alrasdy Accountad fop cne ai
2gardless of ghne ' ' ‘ o
- Bhese facts, Bumiy carried on pas:ing informati
8nd directi 3
ting gunfire right Up till the time the alreraft was nig
Hls loss e
AW 33 is felt d,o,gpl_‘ by evaryone in the Group To
words of one of our Neots - "They don't sope :
than Captain Testgarth®, e
On beh '
alf of all Tanks, »leass Accept our deaspest

sympethy, .
. T —e ‘.-~\--k" 3 < T
¥ Yours Sincerely, = P
Je LOUDON
Wt Lt-Col
(] 1

;%n 3&\ t Alr Liaison Group(AIF)

T S, =" bt | -

This pathetic letter was found by Julie Woodhill inside the frame of Brian’s photograph below.
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This lovely portrait shows his gentle and thoughtful nature. A great loss to our family.
Amongst the clothes and shaving gear and other effects returned to the family after Bunny’s death, were two chess sets and a book on chess. A chip off the old block!

Cemetery — Labuan War Cemetery, Sandakan, BORNEO
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nan

A.A. Form A.130.
(The Notes and Certificate on the back should be read before the will form is filled in.)

) MUsme  THIS IS THE LAST WILL of me® cge ,(9:..(,% A)wgawd

A0} Primis it "No. X (R 2T O Unit —1/5';‘0‘6‘ /4W of® 5779 %ou Satl

I HEREBY REVOKE all former wills and other testamentary dispositions

7
% (3) Full name and heretofore made by me. I APPOINT® W

> tor or executors.

\(4) Set out hero the executor(s) of this my will), 34*““' W fetaal i

addresses  of the

persons to whom
you wish to leave

r property and - O LS
how you wish it
to be divided.

ol

s
vy

(e

) Fill in date. ~ ®As witness my hand this 23 Rt day of W 190

SIGNED by the above-named Testator as
(©), Ul sisntre and for his (her) last will and testament in
of person making the presence of us both present at the same

time who at his (her) request in his (her) }® %jug?ﬂé

=

presence and in the presence of each other
! have hereunto subscribed our names as
witnesses.

(7) Usual signsture M "
and address of lst g
witn,

ness
(if necessary).

(a) U-u.l .lmcun @
2nd

(xt mu-nrr)

W/rf;(“ Z/ > B,

This is annexure marked "A"™ mentioned and ref m'*'hd 1 in the annexed
affidavit of Norman Tinkler sworn at Sydney this
day of 7 1945, Bafors 2
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—
NOTES for GUIDANCE i AOUNTING of CAMPAIGN
STARS, DEFENCE asd WAR MEDALS.

- :
[P o Description of Ribasd: a-' 'Iu’.
1 Dark blue, red and light blue in three | Battle
193945 ical stripes.  This | of
i is worn with the dark blue | Britain
stripe furthest from the left shoulder
! F3 Blue, white and ses shaded | Air Crew
Atlantic and watered. This is worn Europe or
Sear with the blue edge furthest from | France and
the left shoulder Germany
3. ight blue with black and in | Adantc
o | T SR S
4 Pale buff, with & centeal vertical red | 8th Army or
Africa stripe and two marrower stripes, Ist Army
Sear one dark blue and the ocher Light | Air Force
blae, This riband & woen with the | Navy
dack blue stripe furthest from the | 18th
/ left shoulder ey HQ
5. Durk greed, with red edges, Burma
Pacific central yellow '.-Jw.nn-:
Star seripes, one dark and the other
blue. This riband is worn with
dark Bloe stripe furthest from -
y 2 the left shoulder "
6. Dark biue with a central red | Pacific
Burma stripe, and in addition two orange
Sear stripes
7. Five vertical stripes of width,
ey | s e e il
Sear green at the ceatre, and two inter-
vening scripes being white
LS Five vertical of equal width, | Atlantic
e :'-:n-uid.-ydqh
Germaany at the centre, the two intervening
L Flame coloured with green
-po.-dd-ﬁﬂ'--hb‘l‘o:
Medal sripe
10. A narrow centeal red seripe with a | Memtohed
‘War Medal | narrow white stripe on either side. A in
/»a broad red stripe at either edge, and | Despercter
two intervening sripes in blue
11, A khaki ribbon edged dark blue and
light blue respectively with two
M" inervening red sripes
TOTAL AWARDS. O/ X .

Ax/2350 3 DHETGRATH

I was given these medals to look after by my stepmother, Yvonne Westgarth. I still have them. It is a pleasure to show them here.
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Roll of
Honour - Brian Dudley Westgarth
Service Number: NX204346
Rank: Captain
Unit: 54 SQN A/L SEC i Mo |
Service: Australian Army ((’l;tga:lslwww.awmg
(hﬂpJMw.mnAch}

Conflict: Second World War, 1939-1945
Date of death: 05 July 1945
Place of death: Borneo (Balikpapan)

Cause of death: Killed in action

(o y or rial details: Labuan War Cemetery, Malaysia
Source: AWM147 Roll of Honour cards, 1939-1945 War, 2nd AIF (Australian Imperial Force) and CMF (Citizen Military Force)

Location on the Roll of
Honour

Brian Dudley Westgarth's name is
located at panel 11 in the
Commemorative Area (/visit/) at
the Australian War Memorial .

- Back to the Search results (/search/all/?query=brian+dudlevaeslganh&op=Search&sec1ion%5B%SD=people&section%5B%
5D=ar(icles&section%58%50=books&section%58%50=collections)

Print a Roll of Honour certificate (/rescarch/people/roll_of _honour/person-certificate/R 1696238)
(Internal use only)

http://www.awm.gov.aw'research/people/rol 1_of_honour/person/R1 696238/?query=brian+dudley+westgarth&op...

Obtainable at the War Memorial, Canberra, for all the fallen on the Roll of Honour.
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A MESSAGE FROM THE
CHAIRMAN OF THE APPEAL
COMMITTEE,
$IR RODEN CUTLER, VC, AN, KEMG, KCVO, CBE

The wartime service of staff, students and
graduates of the University of Sydney has
brought honour not only to the University
but also to our nation.

The War Memorial Gallery is no longer
habitable as a gallery and the access via a
narrow spiral stairway is picturesque but
unsafe.

We wish to refurbish the plaques and the
Gallery in order to renew our commitment to
the memory of our servicemen and service-
women and especially those who died in ser-
vice. The Gallery would display not only some
of the Fine Arts treasures of the University but
also a Book of Remembrance, to be used by cur-
rent students, staff and visitors.

There are several
war memorial plaques
and a memorial
gallery at the
University that are
important
reminders for new
generations of the
sacrifices of past
generations. Itis

t

::3;;2‘0? teime Please take this opportunity to honour

have badly relatives and friends and to eXpress the strong
affected the feeling of gratitude you may have to the young

men and women who served their country so

plaques and the quality of the well and at such cost.

internal furnishings of the War Memorial
Gallery. The plaques that set out the names of

those who died while serving Australia are SO % M
pitted that the names are becoming unclear. -

This appeal for funds to refurbi
ish the plaques at Sydn i i £
hero. Th : . plaques at Sydney University was | i —
e memorial service was attended by Mollie Sibiriakoff (Vt&yestgart;l)lzilzfilllri’elaz)‘t)gg'gle Governor of NSW, Sir Roden Cutler, himself a war
ill. ’

D . .
onald enlisted in the Royal Australian Air Force on 17th August 1941

Donald, or Tonny, was onl i arm
5 A y 19 when he enlisted in the Ai
= ed in the Air Force. He was a fri i
s always told that they had an agreement that they would marry, b lftnzftl}llbl(})l\;n\:vi gf(t)ung man, good at sport and in love with a charming girl called Dab
A 00 young. e

Dabee came from a lar; e, which in Austra (] I h
. ge country property at RylStOIl hi i T wa a a € her
¢ s stralian terms is qult
near Blayney he name of the y
p opeIt s Dabee! So that is wher
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This blurry photo from Julie shows Tonny, Dabee and Brian (Bunny) relaxing, perhaps in 1944 when Bunny was demobilized from the AIF.

v

Aunt Mallie was always best friends with Dabee. Here she is, third from the right, next to Dabee, fourth. Another girlfriend is next to Tonny on the right,
who is dressed in ‘civvies’. Bunny is on the left, also in ‘civvies’. I am guessing that the photograph is at the beginning of 1940 and the party is
farewelling the young man going off to join the Royal Australian Navy, perhaps Dabee’s brother. The car in the picture is a Plymouth. Cars later became
very scarce.

Donald (Tonny) had been in the Cranbrook Cadets and enlisted in the Second Army Regiment in 1940 reaching the rank of Corporal. From the Archives:

‘Westgarth, Donald Dudley; Army Number — N9784; Date of birth — 13/10/1921

He enlisted in the RAAF on 171 August 1941. His dream was to be a pilot and was awarded his flying badge on 24/6/1942 with the rank of Sergeant. Here is the
official photo:
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P00903.002

AUSTRALIAN WAR MEMORIAL T PO0S03.002

Image copyright: Copyright expired - public domain (/copyright/#pd), . '
e EEmETE (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/mark/1.0/) This image is in the Public Domain
(http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/mark/1.0/)

ID number P00903.002

Photographer Unknown

Object type Black & white

Place made Australia: New South Wales, Wagga Wagga, Uranquinty
Date made 1942

Physical description Black & white

Collection Photograph (/collection/photographs/)

httn://www.awm.gov.au/view/collection/item/P00903.002/

It is impossible to see which one he is, but we can marvel at the sheer number of young men who have joined up ‘Pro Patria’, to fight for their country
and Empire. I count 72.
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Description

An outdoor group portrait of RAAF No 19 Pilots' Course at No 5 Special Flying Training School (5 SFTS), which
began in February 1942 and was completed on 23 June 1942. The following are the successful participants on
the course and are probably in the image but their positions are unknown; 413129 Leading Aircraftman (LAC)
John Charles Low (died 8 June 1944 on operations over France); 414123 LAC Henry Marinus Atherton (died 23
April 1943 in an accident in UK); 409072 LAC Gerald Robert Bermingham; 412912 LAC John Whitfield Carter
(died 1 April 1944 in an accident in UK); 412903 LAC Peter Maxwell Clark (died 23 June 1943 in an accident in
UK); 412399 LAC Leonard Thomas Cook (died 23 April 1943 in an accident in UK); 412909 LAC Arnold John
Cotterill; 412911 LAC William Light Cousens; 409088 LAC Raymond Curlings; 413355 LAC Robert Henry
Cuthbertson; 409392 LAC Donald Campbell Dripps (died 24 December 1943 on operations over Germany);
413481 LAC Richard Evans; 413188 LAC Ronald Desmond Gilbert (died 19 August 1944 on operations over
France); 413202 LAC James Corbett Grady; 409045 LAC Martin James Gullan; 412432 LAC Jonathon Patrick
Haley; 414230 LAC Stanley Clifford Halloran; 413380 LAC Keith Herbert Hewitt; 413140 LAC Francis Jeffrey
Kevin; 412976 LAC Frank Langford (died 25 March 1947 in an accident in Townsville, Queensland); 414244
LAC Roy Sidney Meyers Layfield; 413086 LAC Lionel Stanley Lowder; 409420 LAC Keith McKenzie Lowe;
414052 LAC Harold Charles Leeton Mackintosh (died 21 February 1944 on operations over Germany); 413376
LAC Victor Douglas Guthrie, 413220 LAC Donald William Mason (died 18 June 1944 on operations over
France); 412622 LAC Stanley William Murray (died 11 October 1943 in an accident in Scotland); 414070 LAC
Michael McMahon (died 24 December 1943 on operations over Germany); 413236 LAC Clarence Neale;
414075 LAC James Keyte Oliver; 413027 LAC Ralph Vincent Palesy; 411600 LAC James McCallum Paton;
414262 LAC Harold Alexander Patton, 413418 LAC Thomas Harold Payne (died 24 July 1942 in an accident in
UK); 413096 LAC Ronald Keith Pilling; 413097 LAC Russell Keith Precians; 413271 LAC Norman Jeffrey
Robinson; 413262 LAC John Lloyd Ryall; 405939 LAC Joshua William Scott; 413436 LAC Casper James
Semadeni; 412723 LAC Archibald Stathers Simpson; 413099 LAC John Stanley; 413279 LAC Nello Dudley
Templeman; 414103 LAC Edward Andrew Thynne (died 19 February 1945 on operations over India); 413048
LAC Berry Lemington Ulrick (died 5 June 1944 in an accident in India); 32266 LAC Hugh Graham Wallace-
Wells; 413296 LAC Herbert Frank Watts; 413054 LAC Jeffry Weedon (died 2 July 1943 in an accident in
Scotland); 413463 LAC Donald Dudley Westgarth (died 25 April 1945 on operations over Burma); 409264 LAC J
R Wilson; 413067 LAC Henry Wright; 414148 LAC Henry Kenneth Young (died 29 May 1944 in an accident in
India); 412428 LAC Peter Thomas Glanville; 413461 LAC Henry Lewis Webster; 408266 LAC Alan Louden
Pearsall (died 8 March 1944 on operations over the English Channel); 409455 LAC William Hubert Stockdale;
412884 LAC Ronald Charles Bell (died 27 February 1943 in an accident in UK); 414276 LAC Jack Te Kloot;
412896 LAC Stanley William Burney; 413813 LAC Eric Cotton Wright; 33391 LAC Arthur Lawrence McNiel
Marshall; 413088 LAC Nelson Lorin Myers (died 13 August 1944 on operations off the French coast); 414217
LAC Neville Alexander Thomas Fleming (died 6 February 1943 in an accident in UK); 413242 LAC Roderick
Maton Mackenzie; 413275 LAC John Douglas Stubbs (died 2 January 1945 in a flying accident in Holland);
413358 LAC Ernest Henry Dunkley; 413488 LAC John Howard Maxwell; 413306 LAC David Murray Gow (died
25 May 1944 on operations over Italy); 413113 LAC Raymond Charles Fleming (died 9 July 1943 on operations
over Germany).

These are the names of the graduates. It is terrible to see how many died — a large number (14) like Donald, by accident, although here it says * on
operation’. Donald died in a mid-air collision with an ally, not an enemy.
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Here is Donald receiving his wings at Uranquinty near Wagga NSW.

He embarked for service overseas on 24/8/1942 and disembarked on 18/11/42. He had 9 days Privilege Leave from 29/11/1942 to 7/12/1942, perhaps until his course
started.
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Here is Donald looking very sad, saying goodbye to his brother John, his wife Barbara and Lynne about 2 and a half years old, at Powell Street Killara.
You can see he has his stripes and his wings on his uniform. It is 1942 and he is nearly 21 years old.

During transit the ship had docked at Capetown and Donald was docked a day’s pay for being AWOL for 12 hours 30 minutes. 146 He was apprehended in
Adderley Street. Donald’s conduct reports were always good after that.

He was taken into the advanced flying unit on 19/1/43 at Tealing in Scotland, flying Hurricanes and graduated on 2/3 1943.

The Hawker Hurricane is a British single-seat fighter aircraft of the 1930s—40s that was designed and predominantly built by Hawker Aircraft Ltd. for service
with the Royal Air Force (RAF).

en.wikipedia.org > wiki > Hawker Hurricane
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Some snaps of Donald and friends on the Hurricanes. There are 7 in the top photo and Donald is Back Right.
Donald is the nearest of the two in the lower picture.

He was transferred to the RAF station in India on 10/5/1943 and taken on by the RAF 146 Squadron on 8/8/1943 as a Warrant Officer. In India he was granted local
leave of 14 days twice in 1944: 23-2-44 to 7-3-44 and 9-6-44 to 22-6-44, but whether he got home to Sydney is doubtful.
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Donald and mates in India probably. Donald is second from right.

In India he flew many missions in a Wirraway DH 82.

The CAC Wirraway was a training and general purpose military aircraft manufactured in Australia by the Commonwealth Aircraft Corporation between 1939 and
1946. It was an Australian development of the North American NA-16 training aircraft.

Range: 1,200 km _Cruise speed: 250 km Weight: 1,810 kg Engine type: Pratt & Whitney R-1340 Wasp

On 25/4/1945 had a mid-air collision coming in to land at Myinyan, Burma and was killed instantly. In 1945 he was commissioned as a Pilot, but you can see he was
still a Warrant Officer when he died.

The account of the collision is by SCUDAMORE G L — (Warrant Officer); Service Number — 1338765. It is not digitised but I read it in the archives. This is a
summary of Warrant Officer Scudamore’s account.

Donald was coming in to land at the Myinyan airfield, flving a Thunderbolt BJ 325. At the same moment another plane, a Harrard 2B OF 109, came in to land. The
two planes collided and Donald’s plane continued to fly on for a distance, but the report said he must have died instantly.

Donald was only 23 years old, but had a wonderful adventurous youth. However, I would rather have had my uncle survive to live and love.

Donald’s Grave:

Unlike today in the 21st century, the war dead were not brought home but buried where they fell. Donald was put into a temporary grave and then transferred to the
War Cemetery in Rangoon. He is buried at Takkuyan War Cemetery, Rangoon: Plot XXI Row C Grave 19. A bronze plaque was later erected: R 16/23/29.

Australian War Memorial, Canberra:
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Service Number: 413463

Rank: Pilot Officer

Unit: 261 Squadron RAF

Service: Air force units|Royal Australian Air Force

Conflict: Second World War, 1939-1945

Date of death: 25 April 1945

Place of death: Burma (Myanmar)

Cause of death: Flying Battle

Cemetery or memorial details: Taukkyan War Cemetery, Myanmar

Source: AWM148 Roll of Honour cards, 1939-1945 War, Air Force

Location on the Roll of Honour

Donald Dudley Westgarth's name is located at panel 132 in the Commemorative Area (/visit/) at the Australian
War Memorial .

e

- Back to the Search results (/search/all/?query=donald+dudley+westgarth&op=Search&section%5B%
5D=people&section%5B%5D=articles&section%5B%5D=books&section%5B%5D=collections)

Print a Roll of Honour certificate (/research/people/roll_of honour/person-certificate/R1715294)
(Internal use only)

http://www.awm.gov.au/research/people/roll_of honour/person/R1715294/?query=donald+dudley+westgarthé&c

This is a beautiful courtyard with a pool as the central feature and a cenotaph at the northern end. The names are on metal plaques down both sides of the
courtyard. Donald’s place is marked on the diagram.

Winning the Peace.
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A photograph of Dudley at age about 55, which would have been during the war. He must have been difficult, but for us children he was just ‘Char’.
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Kathleen (YarYar) at about the same time. Hard work and kindness are written in her face.

The war was over on August 14 1945. The Westgarths also had to reconstruct their lives. Here are a grieving John and his mother probably around that time.

My father was demobilized and had two children when the news of his brothers came through so close to each other. Trying to comfort his mother.

Dudley, Kathleen and Mollie found a new home at 7 Vaucluse Road, Vaucluse, which had been the property of Miss Ina Campbell.
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I found information in the National Archives about the Estate of Ina Mary Campbell, sometimes called Selina, who died on October 15th 1945. She was a very
unusual in leaving two houses, money and other assets so that her Estate totalled £18,106/18/2d (eighteen thousand, one hundred and six pounds, eighteen shillings
and tuppence. As her house at 26 Kent Road Rose Bay was valued at £3,200, you can see that she was a fabulously wealthy single woman.

Although I cannot find her on the family tree, she must have belonged to the Campbells of the Duntroon, Woden and Ginninderra sheep properties, here in the ACT.
They were a very successful and prosperous family and also very influential in society.

Miss Campbell had a little dog and her own car. Here is her photo. Miss Campbell looks like she has driven into the interior somewhere.

s

&

% . 1 __

In this quaint photo she looks like she is exploring the deserts of South Australia! Julie gave me this photo from Nancy’s album. Is that a dog behind her?

Dudley and the family lived at 25 Kent Road and must have known Miss Campbell who owned number 26, which she rented out. She lived at her other house,
number 7, Vaucluse Road, Vaucluse. Dudley and Kathleen also visited her there.

Lynne told me: ‘7 remember going to number 7 with Char and Yaryar before they moved in. We had afternoon tea in the garden and Miss Campbell’s dog had a
saucer of tea too.’ This must have been in 1944, before Lynne went to school. Ina Campbell died the next year, leaving a bequest for Mollie.

Dudley became her solicitor and executor. When she died and death duties were paid, the two houses were auctioned, probably around July 1946. The Westgarths
bought number 7 and Mrs E.E. Reading bought number 26 Kent Road, Rose Bay.
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This Valuation by the Commonwealth is in the National Archives because Dudley contested the valuation in the High Court. He lost the case and had to
pay £81/0/6 in costs.

o M-":\-' !

th
You can see the top of the stone garage in the foreground. There are 4 people on the verandah, probably Mollie and Nancy with Anthony and Julie. The
balcony where we watched the coronation celebrations is at the top, looking down the harbour.

The garage was on the street which was walled right along with Sydney sandstone. You walked up steps to a verandah at the front of the house. Above the verandah
there was a second storey with a peaked roof and a balcony which looked up the Harbour to the Bridge. It was a red tiled house with a large garden on the right
where the trees are. The first tree at the gate (which is not visible on the right), was a macadamia and at the top of the stairs there was a huge palm in a circular
garden. Behind the house round the cement yard were sheds, some citrus trees and a banana palm.
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A messy drawing. Palm tree middle right and macadamia bottom right. Banana tree top left.

The front of the house had verandahs on each level in Federation style and they looked up the harbour to the bridge. Upstairs at the back, there was a small bedroom
where I slept with Anthony on beds covered with batik quilts whilst the South Head lighthouse sent its beam round and round the ceiling till we slept. The front room
upstairs, a big room with balcony, was Auntie Mollie’s room. She was working as a lawyer in London, having received a bequest from Miss Campbell for this
purpose.

Grandchildren:

Lynne was the oldest grandchild, born February 11 1940. In 1942 my mother had a miscarriage of a boy and the following year she gave birth to me on 24th
September 1943. In my photos I have my head on one side as a result of my breech birth.

I am 3 and Lynne 7. 194f

My cousin Anthony John Woodhill was born a week later on 1st October 1943. Two years later, Julie Anne Woodhill was born on June 21st 1945.
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About 1947. Two lovely children.

There would be four more grandchildren, but by 1945 there were only four. Perhaps we were a solace to our grandparents in those post-war days, or perhaps they just
wanted to do the best for their remaining children. Their grief never seemed to interfere with their love and care of us.

St Mark’s Darling Point

My parents were not churchgoers, though nominally Anglican, but I was baptised at St Mark’s and later went to kindergarten there. Ascham girls were marched there
for religious occastions.
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Number 7

When I was a little girl of 3 or 4, not yet at Saint Marks Kindergarten, Darling Point, I was often dropped off by my mother to be minded at number 7 Vaucluse Road,
Vaucluse. (My elder sister was at a school called Fairfield and my younger sister was not born till 1949.) At that time, probably 1946 to 1948, my cousin Anthony,
one week younger than I, was always there and later, sometimes, his sister, Julie. The house was on a double block and the garden extended over the southern half.
The three of us used to play in this formal garden where a round bed contained a huge palm tree. From the round bed, going down the path to the road, we passed a
big macadamia tree, the nuts of which we small kids spent hours cracking with rocks. In those days the trees in summer were full of cicadas, yellow, green and
black. Butterflies were much more common too. We collected the cicadas and their empty cases, putting them into “display boxes”. We called them Yellow

Mondays, Black Princes and Greengrocers — not sure why. One day we made a lemonade stand on the path outside the gate, but nobody stopped to have some. We
could not understand it!
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Here is our grandmother with Anthony, all dressed up for some event. He must be about 4.
Anthony has often told me how much his grandparents meant to him and what he has to thank them for. Lynne also told me what high regard she holds them in.

Moll in London, 1948 to 1950
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Passport photo for London? She looks about 29. It is 1948..

Mollie must have seen a London full of bomb sites and war damage of all sorts. Food of course was scarce and probably not good quality in those post-war days,
whilst we were eating well in Australia. Here she is in England, with Doctor Rodney Seaborn, dad’s school friend.
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Mollie in England with John’s school friend, Rodney Seaborn, who must have been doing his exams to qualify in Psychiatry.
In 1950, Mollie returned to her country and her room. It was during the time I was often at Number 7. She was a young woman of 30.

Julie found this article about her return to Australia. It was in Nancy’s desk. Unfortunately it does not tell us what paper or magazine it came from:
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In the second last paragraph she says that she thought it was harder for a woman lawyer to launch herself in her profession in London.... The spots on
her face are blots on the paper.

Childish Pranks?

One day Anthony and I found her asleep on her bed. Her mouth was open and she was dead asleep. Perhaps she had just returned from her long journey. Iam not
sure who was responsible for the idea, but we naughty children started pouring a glass of water into her mouth! Luckily for us she woke up with a tremendous jerk
and saved herself from suffocation! She was too kind to punish us, but we were definitely made aware of our transgression. I had forgotten all about this incident,
but was reminded of it recently by Anthony.

. ! ¢
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Mollie on the upstairs balcony in 1950 after her return

Our grandfather was around 60 at that time. He was six feet two inches tall, (about two metres) and a dominant personality. He loved a joke with children and had a
range of toys which he would bring out to amuse or mystify us. He also loved teasing. Char, as we called him, had three brothers and three sisters, plus a half
brother and sister, so he probably had plenty of practice teasing siblings in his family. I remember that he used to smoke and coughed a lot. Driving in the car, he
would spit out the window — not something done today! Later, he developed emphysema.

Some of the cases Char dealt with in those days.

Char would not be around a lot, because he had his work in the city, but he also would go to see clients in the country. I remember him coming back from Mudgee,
where he had gone to see a client at Nomby, maybe the Cox family. He also worked for Street’s Ice Cream.

The National Archives are a wealth of interest for the researcher. I found several legal cases on a list of files between Dudley Westgarth and Co. and the
Commonwealth.

o Three of them were to do with the large fortune left by Ina Campbell upon her death.

* Another was a case, from 1937, concerning a black entertainer, Nina Mae McKinney and her manager who had a contract at the Tivoli (where vaudeville
entertainment was popular at that time). Miss McKinney overstayed her visa and the Commonwealth Immigration Act was invoked because, of course, it was
the time of the strict White Australia Policy. Char had to pay a good behaviour bond for her. She was sent back to the USA with her manager in February 1938.

¢ Another case shows just how paranoid a country can become in wartime. Two Jewish Hungarians and their families managed to reach Australia from
Switzerland before the war and thus escape Nazi extermination. They changed their names from Szeklei and Jerkovitz to Sinclair and Zerky. (Cousin Julie
was in the same class at school with Julie Zerky!) When the Sinclairs had a new baby, named Peter Robert, they composed a telegram to inform their parents in
Hungary. As it was wartime, the Commonwealth refused to allow the telegram to be delivered in case it was a message to the enemy! (Trading with the
Enemy Act, 1939-1940) Here it is, with part of an explanation by Westgarths to the Commonwealth:
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The telegram was as last allowed to be sent through a lawyer, through the Red Cross or through the well-known travel agent, Thomas Cook and Son

Our Grandparents at Home

When at home, Char often helped out with us children, such as making grilled loin chops on a gridiron perched over an empty kero tin full of burning newspaper.
Who needs a smart Weber or other barbecue? I must try it some time. But I saw the chops cook and ate them too. Yum!

There was a concrete yard along the back of the house, with a long shed parallel to the house. One end was a workshop and the other end was the room of Monty,
the painter, who emerged in his overalls from time to time. Our grandfather told us he was the brother of Gladys Moncrieff, the famous Australian soprano. If so, he
was the black sheep, living there and smelling of drink, but I think it was one of Char’s jokes. The back area also had a green part where a banana palm grew and
produced great bunches of bananas. Our grandmother used to shell peas on the steps near the palm (in the days before convenience foods) and we were told, as our
fingers hovered over the peas, that we would contract the Collywobbles. At age 4, I did not know whether to believe her or not, so probably obeyed the injunction to
save the peas for lunch.

YarYar knew all the Nursery Rhymes and passed them on to me as we shelled the peas. She was a marvellous country cook. Going to Number 7 for a family lunch
meant having a three course meal with homemade soup or grapefruit cut up with mint and sugar, followed by roast chicken with Yorkshire pudding, roast vegetables,
peas and gravy, and then a baked pudding such as apple charlotte, rice pudding, baked custard, lemon delicious pudding and so on. For between meals she was a
great maker of rock cakes, so there was always something in the tin. No wonder I was fat! Her technique for making a Swiss Roll was wonderful to watch as she
deftly took the lightest of sponges out of the oven onto a tea towel, spread the strawberry jam and rolled it up. The last touch was the sprinkled icing sugar. I think I
can still taste it!

I forgot to add that Char always carved the chicken and miraculously found a wishbone for everyone. This was very popular. At Christmas, our grandmother put a
gold ring in the pudding, in the old fashioned way, (to predict who was next to marry), but that custom was soon replaced by solid silver money, either sixpence or
threepence.

Children were very slim in those post-war days. Many did not have shoes, but we were privileged children and had plenty of clothes and food. I was always being
told how fat I was. In the garden, between the flat area and the slope down to the road, there was a low wall with a little arch in it, a bit like the little door in Alice in
Wonderland, I thought. Anyway I used to console my four-year-old self that if I could wriggle through I was not fat. I can still remember the triumph of wriggling
through. I suppose I went to school before I got too big for it.

Although YarYar was only 4 feet 11 inches tall with size 2 shoes, she was very strong and could run up the kitchen stepladder (which I now have at the farm) to get
something out of the top cupboards, or drive the heavy Wolsey into town to Anthony Horderns, sitting on a cushion so she could see where she was going.

file:///C:/Users/Research/Desktop/My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974... 132/135



3/25/25, 2:42 PM My grandfather, Dudley Westgarth, up to the age of 60. There will be a second part up to his death in 1974. | westgarth and gla...

A pale green Wolsey. In those days they had running boards. Why did nobody notice my head and shoulder? Me on the right and Lynne on the left.
Perhaps these days I would not be so fat.

X-Rays for Feet

At Anthony Horderns department store you could buy anything and get it delivered. I remember going to get shoes for school, so I must have been just 5. When we
got there, we realised I was not wearing socks, so the assistant put tissue paper round my feet and popped on the brown leather lace-up shoes which were compulsory
at my private school, Ascham. Then I was told to mount onto a little platform and stand still. When I looked down, I could see my toes inside the leather shoes! X-
ray machines for checking length and width of shoes were the latest thing in the 40s, perhaps a war-time development put to a new use? When it was understood that
children’s feet were getting irradiated, the machines disappeared.

There were a few beautiful pieces around the house at number 7. One was a silver mirror frame with a nymph in silver appearing out of the frame to look at herself.
Our grandfather used to hang his keys on her! It is now the proud possession of Scott Woodhill. There was also a huge ceramic bowl probably for an aspidistra or
other pot plant. It had a panther and various semi precious looking medallions around it. Anthony Woodhill now has it. You can see the photo in the blog about
George Charles.

I have a brass vase which must have been bought in Java by Yar Yar ( see above). The batik bedspreads on that long-ago bedroom would have come home with her
from Java too.

The China Cabinet

There was a glass fronted cabinet In the hall and I used to look at the old fans, which must have been antique then. There was assorted china and glass, but also a
mysterious tin of chocolate! As it was so old, I was not tempted to eat it. / was told that Queen Victoria sent the chocolate to the British soldiers in the Boer War,
making it about 50 years old then. Char's step brother, Jack, must have received it, but he did not eat it! Banjo Paterson also received the chocolate and did not eat

it and it is now in the National Archives! I saw it on TV.

After I went to school, that magical time ended and I saw less of my grandparents, but they were still a constant in my life until they died.
Share this:

o Twitter
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